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Message from the Chairman

Dear stakeholders, 

Another year has gone by and now it is time to take stock of the financial year of 2019.

Despite the structural reform program that has been implemented by the Angolan authorities with the support 
of the IMF - adoption of the Value Added Tax, liberalization of the exchange rate, conservative amending budget - 
2019 was characterized, after three years of recession, by a new contraction of the Angolan economy, largely due 
to the negative situation which the oil sector is facing, namely the fall in the oil price in international markets, as well 
as the reduction in world demand for this raw material. Besides the fiscal imbalance - budget deficit - and the high 
levels reached by both public debt in 2019, exacerbating the over-indebtedness of the Angolan State, and external 
debt.

In the banking sector, the non-performing loans ratio grew sharply, which also reflects the referred negative 
performance of the Angolan economy, scarcity of foreign currency and strong depreciation of the kwanza. Under 
the agreement with the IMF, the BNA completed the asset quality review of 13 banks. Following this review, the 
BNA revealed that the Angolan banking system is overall robust, with only two banks experiencing capital shortfalls.

In view of the above, in our opinion, the year 2019 presented a set of relevant adversities for the Angolan bank-
ing sector which nevertheless proved to be relatively resilient and had the capacity to overcome them. Concerning 
BCH   and looking at the main economic and financial indicators, we conclude that we continue to stand as a solid 
institution. 

In 2019, the net result reached Akz 7,163,989,000 which, compared to 2018, shows an increase of 8%. Net in-
terest income grew by about 36% and regulatory capital by about 42%. The solvency ratio reached 189%, when the 
minimum required is 10%.

For BCH and its customers, 2019 represents an important milestone in terms of activity, with the opening of the 
Bank’s first representative office abroad, in Portugal, in the city of Porto. The opening of this first BCH representative 
office marks the beginning of the process of its internationalization. 

Given the current dynamic business environment all over the world, this representative office will allow us to 
better serve our corporate customers with strong business connections with Portugal and other EU countries. It 
will also support our individual customers, residing outside Angola, who are part of the vast Angolan diaspora in 
Portugal and Europe.

With this representative office in Portugal, BCH will also be able to receive corporate and individual economic 
agents who need support and information on business and commercial activity in Angola. 

Expectations for 2020 represent challenges for the financial system. In fact, although the Angolan economy 
would have been expected to start recovering during the period of 2020-2021, with likely improvement within both 
the oil and non-oil sectors, also as a result of the positive impact of the reforms related to the agreement estab-
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lished between the Angolan State and the IMF, the COVID-19 crisis brought whole new risks and uncertainties re-
garding the realization of this originally envisaged scenario.

Yet despite this bleak scenario, BCH will continue to support the economy, as it always has, growing in a sus-
tained manner and striving to keep its ratios within acceptable levels.

Thus, BCH wants to express its deep appreciation and gratitude to its employees for their dedication and com-
mitment. It is our employees through their exceptional professionalism who manage to keep BCH at the top of the 
country’s financial system.  Our deepest thanks.

We cannot but express our special thanks to our customers for continually choosing us, whom we assure that 
we are committed to constantly improve our service quality. We also thank our shareholders for their vote of con-
fidence regarding the implementation of the outlined management policies.

To all we express our sincere gratitude.
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Macroeconomic environment
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Enquadramento macroeconómico

International economy

Global growth decelerated markedly in 2019 to 2.4% (3% in 2018), with continued weakness in global trade and 
investment. This weakness was broad-based, affecting advanced economies - particularly in the Euro Area, which 
grew only 1.6% (2.2% in 2018), as well as emerging markets and developing economies, which grew only 3.5% (4.3% 
in 2018). Parallel decline was observed in several key indicators of economic activity throughout 2019, approaching 
the lowest levels since the 2008 global financial crisis. Especially the contraction registered in the global goods tra-
de during a significant part of 2019 and significant slowdown in industrial activity throughout the year.
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In the United States of America (USA) growth slowed to 2.3% (2.9% in 2018), due to a slowdown in investment and 
exports. Despite the recent trade agreement with China, rising tariffs resulted in higher trade costs, while policy 
uncertainties weighed on the economic agents’ confidence and investment. As in many other advanced economies, 
the U.S. industrial sector performed very poorly in 2019. Despite these obstacles, the labour market remains rela-
tively robust, with unemployment coming close to its lowest level in five decades and solid wage growth  suppor-
ting consumption. Concerns about the global economic outlook and persistently below-target inflation levels have 
prompted the Federal Reserve (FED) to cut the federal funds rate by 75 basis points since mid-2019.

Macroeconomic environment

International economy (continuing) 
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Economic activity in the Euro Area deteriorated significantly in 2019, reaching 1.1% (1.9% in 2018). Several European 
economies have been on the verge of recession at some point over the past year, with particular emphasis on the 
weakness in the German manufacturing sector, which has struggled with the drop in demand originating in Asia 
and with disruptions in automobile production. Brexit-related uncertainty also contributed significantly to the ne-
gative economic performance of the Euro Area. The European Central Bank (ECB) sought to stimulate the European 
economy through a negative interest rate policy, restarting a less restrictive monetary policy and thus making low-
-cost credit available to banks.

Macroeconomic environment

International economy (continuing)  

In China, growth decelerated more than previously expected to 6.1% (6.6% in 2018), as a result of softening domes-
tic demand and increased trade tensions.  Trade policy uncertainties and higher tariffs on trade with the U.S. wei-
ghed on investor sentiment for most of 2019. Industrial production growth reached its lowest level in several years. 
Trade flows weakened substantially. Imports, mainly those related to intermediate goods, decreased, falling more 
than exports, partially reflecting the aforementioned slowdown in domestic demand. The contraction of exports to 
the USA has worsened, although supplies to the rest of the world have shown to be slightly more resilient. In res-
ponse to the slowdown in activity, monetary policy has become more accommodative, but regulatory restrictions 
to reduce lending between non-bank entities continued. The Chinese government has also stepped up some fiscal 
measures, including tax cuts and support for local governments for public investment spending. Total debt excee-
ded 260% of GDP, but market share of non-bank lending continued to decrease. 
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Macroeconomic environment

Angolan Economy

As the second largest oil producer in Africa and having the third largest Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in sub-Saharan Africa, 

after Nigeria and South Africa, Angola has recorded, since the end of the long civil war, one of the highest rates of economic 

growth in the world, driven by oil wealth.

However, for some years now, Angola has been severely affected by the fall in oil prices in international markets, as well as by 

the reduction in world demand (especially China).    

In 2019, Angola entered the fourth year of recession, and the extension of this recession period is essentially due to the fall in 

production in mature oil fields. 

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), GDP contracted 0.3% in 2019, but is expected to grow again in 2020 (1.2%) 

and 2021 (2.9%), supported by ongoing structural reforms.

Per capita income has been gradually growing, especially in metropolitan regions, but poverty and unemployment rates remain 

high. According to the African Development Bank (AfDB), the poverty rate fell from 68% in 2000 to 37% in 2018. Poverty is more 

prevalent in rural areas (58%) than in urban areas (19%). Also according to the AfDB, the unemployment rate is estimated at 

28% and remains high among young people in urban areas (38%). Although inflation fell to 17.2% in 2019, it remains high.
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Macroeconomic environment

Angolan economy (continuing)

Despite the efforts that have been undertaken through the implementation of the referred structural reforms (ex. 
adoption of the Value Added Tax (VAT), exchange rate liberalization, conservative amending budget), in 2019, Ango-
la’s economy continued to suffer with the negative outlook for the oil sector.

In effect, the fall in oil revenues prevents the improvement of the budget deficit, which amounted to 0.3% of GDP in 
2019 (it is expected to fall to -0.5% of GDP in 2020 and -0.1% of GDP in 2021).

After having reached a peak of 95% of GDP in 2019, mainly due to the depreciation of the kwanza, public debt is 
expected to decrease to 89.9% of GDP in 2020 and 84.2% of GDP in 2021, according to the IMF. The risk of over-
-indebtedness remains significant, given that public debt is very vulnerable to currency depreciations, as well as 
variations of oil price. 
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Macroeconomic environment

Angolan economy (continuing)

External debt grew and peaked in 2019. This evolution is explained by the decline in oil production and prices, which has caused 

a drop in export earnings over the past few years. The increase in external debt is also the result of the depreciation of the 

kwanza, as well as Angola’s dependence on external financing to fund public investment projects. The main external debt-rela-

ted risks include possible further depreciation of the kwanza, lower economic growth than expected, changes in the oil price in 

international markets and contraction of financial conditions.

Foreign direct investment in Angola in 2019 continued to be negative due to the transfers from oil companies to their respective 

parent companies and to the decline in oil production. The main investors in Angola continue to be Portugal, the Netherlands, 

South Africa and China. In 2018, the Angolan government established the Program for  Support to Production, Diversification 

of Exports and Imports Replacements (PRODESI) which is based on seven key initiatives, focusing on reducing imports, increa-

sing Angola’s economic self-sufficiency and export diversification in order to reduce the historical dependence on oil and oil 

products. One of the most interesting initiatives is the one that aims to improve and make the environment for doing business 

in Angola more attractive, namely through the creation of favourable economic conditions for expansion of international trade 

and attraction of foreign investment, as well as encouraging the establishment of links between local businesses and global 

consumers.

In the banking sector, the ratio of non-performing loans (NPL) increased sharply to 34.6% in September 2019 (at the end of 

2016 this ratio was 13.1%). This situation reflects the negative performance of the Angolan economy, scarcity of foreign cur-

rency and strong depreciation of the kwanza. Under the agreement with the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the National 

Bank of Angola (BNA) completed the asset quality review (AQR - Asset Quality Review) of 13 banks. Following this review, the 

BNA revealed that the Angolan banking system is overall robust, with only two banks experiencing capital shortfalls. After the 

referred review, the most decapitalized banks were obliged to submit to BNA a plan to increase the respective capital. These 

banks will have to be recapitalized by June 2020.

Angolan authorities remain committed to the implementation of the structural reform program, supported by the IMF. In De-

cember 2018, the IMF approved a three-year credit line (Extended Credit Facility agreement) in a total amount of US$3.7 billion. 

The critical pillars of this structural reform program include fiscal consolidation in order to bring debt down to sustainable levels, 

increased exchange rate flexibility to regain competitiveness and supportive monetary policy to reduce inflation. Other pillars 
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of the program include strengthening the banking system, enabling a better business environment and improving governance.  

In addition to the tightening of monetary policy and resumption of fiscal consolidation, the Angolan government also took first 

steps to reform public utilities and oil prices, cut subsidies and began the privatization and liquidation of some state-owned 

companies. In order to enhance the business climate and competitiveness, relevant legislation (private investment laws, anti-

-monopoly laws) was adopted. The National Development Plan for 2018-2022 aims to address the structural bottlenecks in 

the Angolan economy and promote human development, public sector reform, diversification and inclusive growth. Angolan 

authorities have also been reaffirming their commitment to improve governance and fight corruption.
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Macroeconomic environment

Legal framework 

Regulations approved by BNA in 2019

Year Subject Topic Published on In force since Notice / Regulation /
Instructions

2019 Foreign exchange position limit Foreign exchange policy 11/12/2019 11/12/2019 Notice nº 14/2019 
of 2 December

2019
Foreign exchange operations in the oil and gas

sector for the settlement of goods and services
provided by foreign exchange residents

Foreign exchange policy 11/12/2019 11/12/2019 Notice nº 13/2019
of 2 December

2019 Rules and procedures for carrying out foreign
exchange transactions by natural persons  Foreign exchange policy 11/12/2019 11/12/2019 Notice nº 12/2019

of 2 December

2019
Pricing of foreign currency transactions

Maximum limits for commissions and expenses
Commission collection curreny

Foreign exchange policy 09/12/2019 09/12/2019 Notice nº 11/2019
of 26 November

2019 Procedures for carrying out foreign exchange transactions 
by natural persons Foreign exchange policy 12/11/2019 12/11/2019 Notice nº 10/2019

of 06 November

2019 Provision of payment services
Operational rules of the remittance service Foreign exchange policy 12/11/2019 12/11/2019 Notice nº 09/2019

of 06 November

2019 Exchange bureau
Operational rules Foreign exchange policy 12/11/2019 12/11/2019 Notice nº 08/2019

of 06 November

2019 Lending to the real sector of the economy Monetary policy 07/10/2019 07/10/2019 Notice nº 07/2019
of 25 October

2019 Change in the wording of articles 2 and 6
of Notice no. 08/12, of 30 March Microcredit companies 09/09/2019 09/09/2019 Notice nº 06/2019

of 30 August

2019 Process of accounting standardization and
harmonization of the Angolan banking sector Financial system 09/09/2019 09/09/2019 Notice nº 05/2019

of 30 August

2019 Lending to the real sector of the economy
Terms and conditions 03/04/2019 03/04/2019 Notice nº 04/2019

of 3 April

2019

Pricing of foreign currency transactions
Maximum limits for commissions and expenses

Maximum foreign exchange margin applicable to certain 
operations

Commission collection curreny 

Financial conduct 31-03-2019 31-03-2019 Notice nº 03/2019

2019 Foreign currency purchase and sale auctions
Organizational and operating procedures  Foreign exchange policy 07-11-2019 07-11-2019 Instruction nº 19/2019

of 06  November

2019 Limits for foreign exchange operations
for the import of goods Foreign exchange policy 25/10/2019 25/10/2019 Instruction nº 18/2019

of 25 October

2019 Mandatory reserves Monetary policy 25/10/2019 25/10/2019 Instruction nº 17/2019
of 24 October

2019
Reference exchange rates
Calculation methodology

Exchange rates of banking financial institutions
Foreign exchange policy 25/10/2019 25/10/2019 Instruction nº 16/2019

of 24 October

2019 Chart of accounts of the non-bank financial institutions Financial system 09/09/2019 Instruction nº 15/2019
of 6 September09/09/2019

2019 Chart of accounts of the banking financial institutions Financial system 09/09/2019 Instruction nº 14/2019
of 6 September09/09/2019

2019 Effective interest rate method for the recognition
of income and expenses of financial instruments Financial system 06/09/2019 06/09/2019 Instruction nº 13/2019

of 28 August

2019 Securities Financial system 06/09/2019 06/09/2019 Instruction nº 12/2019
of 28 August

Source: Website of Banco Nacional de Angola - http://www.bna.ao/
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Macroeconomic environment

Legal framework (continuing)

Regulations approved by BNA in 2019

Year Subject Topic Published on In force since Notice / Regulation /
Instructions

2019 Treatment of losses in the loan portfolio  Financial system 06/09/2019 06/09/2019 Instruction nº 11/2019
of 28 August

2019
Leases

 Changes in the wording of points 7.3 and 8.2
of Instruction No. 08/16 of 08 August

Financial system 06/09/2019 06/09/2019 Instruction nº 10/2019
of 28 August

2019 Financial instrument disclosures Financial system 02/09/2019 02/09/2019 Instruction nº 09/2019
of 27 August

2019 Impairment losses for the loan portfolio Financial system 02/09/2019 02/09/2019 Instruction nº 08/2019
of 27 August

2019 Payment system of Angola
Value limits on transactions carried out in payment systems Financial system 08-07-2019 08-07-2019 Instruction nº 07/2019

of 05 July

2019 Kwanza banknote deposit and withdrawal operations  Financial system 08-07-2019 08-07-2019 Instruction nº 06/2019
of 05 July

2019 Treatment of suspect counterfeit banknotes  Financial system 12/11/2019 12/11/2019 Instruction nº 05/2019
of 05 July

2019 Financial system
Credit lending Monetary policy 26/04/2019 26/04/2019 Instruction n.º 04/2019

of 26 April

2019
Payment system

Automated clearing house of Angola
Guarantees for settlement of balances

Payment system 08/04/2019 08/04/2019 Instruction n.º 03/2019
of 03 April

2019 Guide on the recommendations for implementing the AQA 
methodologies for the 2019 financial year. Supervision 27/12/2019 27/12/2019 Directive nº 13/DSB/DRO/ 

2019 of 27 December

2019 Protection for the consumer of financial products
and services Financial conduct 27/12/2019 27/12/2019 Directive nº 12/DCF/DRO/ 

2019 of 27 December

2019 Information reporting deadlines via
the financial institutions portal (PIF) Financial system 20/12/2019 20/12/2019 Directive nº 11/DSB/DRO/ 

2019 of 18 December

2019 Information reporting deadlines via
the financial institutions portal (PIF) Financial system 10/12/2019 10/12/2019 Directive nº 10/DSB/

DRO/2019

2019 Statistical information on mobile payment services Payment system 27/11/2019 Directive nº 09/DSP/
DIF/201927/11/2019

2019 Definition of “Exchange rate arrears” Foreign exchange policy 07/11/2019 Directive nº 04/DCC/201907/11/2019

2019 Requirements for the calculation
and fulfillment of mandatory reserves Foreign exchange market 25/10/2019 25/10/2019 Directive n.º 08/DMA/ DRO/ 

2019 de 24 October

2019 Settlement of letters of credit under quantity auctions Financial system 25/10/2019 25/10/2019 Directive n.º 03/DCC/ 2019
de 25 October

2019
Basic interest rate of BNA - BNA rate, interest rates on

operations of permanent lending and liquidity absorption 
facilities

Financial system 25/10/2019 25/10/2019 Directive n.º 02/DMA/ 2019 
de 24 October

2019 Obligation to provide information to customers
on the Deposit Guarantee Fund Financial system 18/01/2019 18/01/2019 Instruction n.º 02/2019

of 03 January

2019 Automated clearing house of Angola
Guarantees for settlement of balances Payment system 04/01/2019 04/01/2019 Instruction Nº 01/2019

of 03 January

Source: Website of Banco Nacional de Angola - http://www.bna.ao/
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Macroeconomic environment

Legal framework (continuing)

Regulations approved by BNA in 2019

Year Subject Topic Published on In force since Notice / Regulation /
Instructions

2019
Import documentary credits

Allocation of ceilings by the National Bank of Angola 
 Applicable terms and conditions  

Foreign exchange policy 08-07-2019 08-07-2019

2019 BNA Rate - Notice No. 12/2012 of 2 April  Monetary policy 04/06/2019 04/06/2019 Directive n.º 02/DMA/ 
2019 of 30 May

2019
Guarantees in the CCAA subsystems

Parameters for determining minimum guarantees
and penalties for non-compliance 

Payment systems 04/06/2019 04/06/2019 Directive n.º 04/DSP/DRO/ 
2019 of 11 April

2019
Reporting of information on credit lending to the real sector 

of the economy through the System of Supervision of 
Financial Institutions (SSIF)

Monetary policy 21/05/2019 21/05/2019 Directive n.º 05/DSB/DRO/ 
2019 of 20 May

2019 Definition of “Exchange rate arrears” Foreign exchange policy 16/05/2019 16/05/2019 Directive n.º 02/DCC/ 
2019 of 14 May

2019 Expiration date of payment cards  Payment system 22/02/2019 22/02/2019 Directive nº 002/DSP/
DRO/2019 of 21 February

Directive n.º 06/DCC/DMA/ 
2019 of 05 July

Sending of additional information on new credits
and deposits through the

Financial Institutions Supervision System - SSIF.
Monthly information

Commercial banks

2019 Monetary policy 16/04/2019 16/04/2019 Directive n.º 03/DEE/DSB/
DRO 2019 of 28 March

2019
Provision of information on the payment

commitments issued by commercial banks, 
for the carrying out of export of goods

Foreign exchange policy 12/02/2019 12/02/2019 Directive nº 01/DCC/2019
of 05 February

2019 BNA Rate - Notice No. 10/2011 of 20 October Foreign exchange policy 31/01/2019 31/01/2019 Directive nº 01/DMA/2019
of 30 January

2019
Foreign exchange position limit

Daily information
Commercial banks 

Foreign exchange policy 10/01/2019 10/01/2019 Directive nº 07/DSB/DRO/
DMA/2018 of 2 January

2019
Guarantees in the CCAA subsystems

Parameters for determining minimum guarantees
and penalties for non-compliance

Payment system 04/01/2019 04/01/2019 Directive n.º 01/DSP/DRO 
2019 of 03 January

Source: Website of Banco Nacional de Angola - http://www.bna.ao/
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Macroeconomic environment

Prospects

In 2019, the Angolan economy contracted for the fourth consecutive year. Lower-than-expected oil production re-
sulting from, on the one hand, insufficient investment in the sector, and on the other hand, from increasing maturity 
and decline of the oil fields, continued to contribute to the contraction of the economy. Nevertheless, it is expected 
that the economy will start to recover during the 2020-2021 period, with an expected improvement both in the 
oil and non-oil sector, also as a result of the positive impact of the reforms related to the agreement between the 
Angolan State and the International Monetary Fund (IMF). However, it is important to note that there continues to 
be a number of significant risks concerning the expectations about Angola’s economy development, namely the 
volatility of oil prices, continuity of the fiscal consolidation process and deterioration of the external economic en-
vironment.

Despite the predominant downward trend until 2019, inflation is expected to grow in 2020 due to the following fac-
tors: a time lag between the significant kwanza devaluation and its impact; introduction of the second phase of the 
Value Added Tax (VAT); increase in some utility tariffs; eliminating subsidies for a set of products (oil and related 
products). These inflationary pressures are expected to decrease after 2020, given that past adjustments to ex-
change rate policy will no longer have so much impact and also because domestic demand is expected to remain 
relatively contained.

Drop in oil production and its price, as well as the limited availability of international reserves, led to a considerable 
depreciation of the kwanza in 2019. This sharp depreciation was consistent with a more flexible exchange rate (to 
point out the IMF’s US$ 3.7 bn support to Angola in 2019) and with the intention of narrowing the gap in relation to 
the parallel market to approximately 20%. In 2020-2021, the kwanza should continue to depreciate, but at a less ac-
celerated pace. The drop will be absorbed by the measures taken by the BNA (e.g. regulatory requirement to main-
tain a high domestic currency reserve ratio), as well as by the fact that the biggest competitive adjustments have 
already occurred. The reference rate is likely to be maintained at high levels in view of the higher expected inflation.

Angola faces a very high public debt to gross domestic product (GDP) ratio that exceeds the sustainability threshold 
for comparable emerging economies. High level of public debt, combined with the implementation of the IMF pro-
gram, implies that the process of fiscal consolidation should be continued in 2020 and 2021. In addition, a greater 
effort should be made to diversify the tax base (within a context of expected lower revenues from oil taxes), also 
towards prioritization of public expenditure, elimination of subsidies on petroleum products and regularization of 
outstanding payments. Meanwhile, the privatization plan for 195 state-owned companies is expected to be com-
pleted in 2022. In order to achieve sustainable levels of indebtedness, diversification of the Angolan economy is thus 
crucial, by reducing dependence on the oil sector, promoting the private sector and attracting foreign investment.

The prospects for economic growth in the long term are slightly more favourable than in the short term. This fore-
cast is supported by demographic factors, such as the fact that Angola has a young and growing population, as well 
as the dynamic activity of certain economic sectors, which have shown their resilience in recent years. Additionally, 
the IMF’s current three-year intervention is also expected to be more effective than the previous one, taking into 



Annual Report and Accounts 2019 19

Banco Comercial do Huambo

account what appears to be the Angolan Government’s commitment to changing the country’s economic structure 
and promoting its respective diversification, namely through reducing dependence on the oil sector.

The risks related to the realization of the scenario envisaged for the long term are significant and are essentially 
related to the eventual resistance to the implementation of structural reforms agreed with the IMF, low level of qual-
ifications of the population and heavy dependence on the oil sector. Avoiding these risks will necessarily involve the 
investment of the Angolan Government in areas such as education, health and infrastructure.  
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BCH
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The six fundamental values at the core of the BCH’s culture are:
1. Integrity, by acting with honesty, loyalty and commitment;
2. Confidence and transparency, by acting with truthfulness and clarity;
3. Team work – we believe that collective effort is the best way to achieve our goals;
4. Rigour, by acting with professionalism, technical competence and diligence so as to 

achieve higher levels of quality and efficiency;
5. Equality, by acting with courtesy and complying with the principles of non-discrimina-

nation, tolerance and equal opportunities.
6. Soundness, by acting prudently in managing the risks, stability and soundness of the 

Institution.

The BCH´s vision is to be a reference bank in terms of provision of services to the custo-
mer and prudent management of the Institution.

Our mission is to offer banking and financial products and services of enhanced quality 
to our customers in order to create and distribute value to customers, employees, part-
ners and shareholders.

BCH

Vision, Mission and Values

Vision

Mission

Values



Annual Report and Accounts 201922

Banco Comercial do Huambo

BCH

The Board of Directors, Board Committees and Shareholder Structure

The Board of Directors and Board Committees
The Board of Directors comprises a Chairman and two Directors.

General meeting of Shareholders -Board

Alexandra Teodora da Conceição Cruz Martins
Maria Helena Miguel
Regina Luísa Lagos Fernandes dos Santos Nulli

Chairman
Deputy-chairman
Secretary

The Board of Directors

Natalino Bastos Lavrador
Salim Abdul Valimamade
Cristiana de Azevedo Neto Lavrador

Chairman 
Director
Director

Audit Committee

UHY - A. Paredes & Associados - Angola
Mário Silva Castelo Branco
Francisco Miguel Paulo

Chairman 
Deputy-chairman
Deputy-chairman

Shareholder Structure
As at 31 December 2019, the capital of Banco Comercial do Huambo was owned by 5 shareholders, as follows:

Shareholders				    Interest

Natalino Bastos Lavrador	 51,50%
Valdomiro Minoru Dondo	 20,00%
António Mosquito	 20,00%
Sebastião Bastos Lavrador	 5,50%
Carlos Saturnino Guerra Sousa e Oliveira	 3,00%
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BCH

The Board of Directors, Board Committees and Shareholder Structure
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Activity in 2019

Key indicators

BCH has been building a stable commercial network, resources and customer base, as statistics show below. In the 
process the Bank significantly increased its profitability and is one of the most profitable and efficient banks in the 
banking system in Angola.

Branches
In 2019, the Bank did not open 
new branches. However, BCH 
intends to continue to expand 
its commercial network through 
opening of new branches.

Amounts in thousands of Akz

Team reinforcement
At the end of 2019, the Bank’s 
staff includes 62 employees, 3 
more than in 2018.

Customer growth
The number of custom-
ers in 2018 increased by 
2,693 and reached a total 
of 17,586 as at 31 Decem-
ber 2019.
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Activity in  2019

Business Development

Total assets
In 2019, BCH accounted for about 21% increase of total 
assets, which reflects the growth in activity.

Loans and Advances to Customers
Contrary to 2018, the loans and advances to custom-
ers decreased significantly from Akz 1,316,865,000 to 
Akz 69,761,000. Impairment levels of the loan portfolio 
remain residual, which reveals the quality of the Bank´s 
portfolio and its conservative risk policy.45,665,043

37,796,794

29,366,61

2019

2018

2017

Amounts in thousands of Akz

Net Interest income
In 2019, the Bank increased its net interest income by 
about 36%, which stood at Akz 5,057,140,000 as at 31 
December 2019.

2019

2018

2017

ROE and ROA 
Return on equity decreased by 22.99% from 37.57% in 
2018 to 28.93% in 2019. On the other hand, return on 
assets fell by 10.56%. from 17.54% in 2018 to 15.69% in 
2019.

Amounts in thousands of Akz

5,057,140

3,724,449

1,804,585

2019

2018

2017

Amounts in thousands of Akz

Customer Deposits
In 2019, the amount of customer deposits in-
creased from Akz 14,448,356,000 in 2018 to Akz 
18,267,547,000 in 2019.

2019

2018

2017

69,761

1,316,865

112,283

18,267,547

14,448,356

15,728,826
Amounts in thousands of Akz

Solvency Ratio
The Bank maintains high financial soundness, on the 
basis of the formula defined in art. 1 of Notice No. 
05/07 of 15 of July. This ratio at the end of 2019 stood 
at 189.20% (107.52%, in 2018) a percentage well above 
the minimum requirement of 10% set by the National 
Bank of Angola.
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Activity in 2019

Business Development

Net profit
The Bank´s net profit amounted to AKZ 7,163,989,000 
an increase of AKZ 533,945,000 compared to the 
amount recorded in the financial year of 2018. 

Regulatory Capital
In 2019, own funds amounted to Akz 24,408,700,000, 
which is an increase of Akz 7,204,292,000, a signifi-
cant rise of 41.87% compared to 2018.

2019

2018

2017

Amounts in thousands of Akz

2019

2018

2017

Amounts in thousands of Akz

Administrative Costs 
In 2019, the Bank’s cost structure accounted for a 36.27% increase in comparison to 2018. The main administrative 
cost items are personnel costs up by about 21.26% and utilities costs which rose 37.36%. 

POS
At the end of 2019, the Bank 
had a total of 544 POS.

ATMs
BCH has 11 ATMs available to 
the public, eight of which stra-
tegically placed in different lo-
cations in Luanda and three in 
the province of Huambo.

Debit cards 
In 2019, the Bank recorded 
an average of 1 card per ev-
ery 4 customers. 

7,163,989

6,630,044

4,004,677

17,204,408

24,408,700

10,557,116

544 POS operating 
as at 31 December 2019

11 ATMs between 
Luanda and Huambo

4,924

Administrative costs 2016 – 2019



Annual Report and Accounts 201928

Banco Comercial do Huambo

Activity in 2019

Risk management

The Bank having already implemented its Risk Management System on the basis of the 3 Lines of Defence Model 
consolidated in 2017 the processes associated with its control functions - Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit -, 
as well as the interaction and coordination between these areas in order to ensure adequacy, strengthening and 
operation of the Bank´s internal control system, seeking to mitigate the risks according to the complexity of the 
business.

In this way, the Risk Management Function is responsible for developing practices which permit the identification, 
quantification, control, monitoring and reporting of the different types of relevant risks which are inherent to the 
BCH´s activity, namely operational risk, credit risk and financial risks with the purpose of protecting the Bank´s 
capital and maintaining its solvability.  It is also responsible for the design, development, monitoring and update of 
the risk management models which allow for the correct identification, evaluation and control of risks associated 
with the Bank´s activity, in order to ensure that they remain at levels consistent with the profile and degree of risk 
tolerance (Risk Appetite) defined by the Board of Directors.

In 2019, the risk management function implemented the process of sensitivity analysis for the various risks to whi-
ch the Bank is exposed, such as exchange rate, interest rate and market risk.

The years 2018 and 2019 consolidated the activities carried out by this function, formally created in 2016. Currently, 
in addition to the regulatory reports required by the BNA, the Risk Management function has been broadening its 
vision on risk management by using not only the tools required by the BNA but also complementary internal maps, 
important for the decision-making by the Board of Directors. In this way, during 2017 the following internally deve-
loped maps were submitted to the Board of Directors: 

• Credit Risk Indicators – analyses credit exposure and its breakdown by branch and segment, as well as credit 
concentration; 

• ALM tool – analyses a set of indicators of liquidity risk, foreign exchange risks and interest rate risk and as-
signs a level of risk associated with each indicator value.

As to the Compliance function, likewise officially independent as of 2016, it also consolidated until 2019 the efficien-
cy and effectiveness of the tasks it was assigned with. The following tasks are part of the scope of activities carried 
out by the Compliance function:

• Monitor the commercial network as to the acceptance of customers, performance of certain operations or 
sale of products and services.

• Ensure the compliance of produced and reported information with applicable laws and legislation, mainly 
from the BNA.

• Ensure compliance with the Bank´s code of ethics/conduct in a comprehensive manner
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• Evaluate the impact of regulations on the business in order to better understand the involved risks against 
the cost effectiveness of necessary alterations to processes/systems/products.

• Participate proactively and preventively in the approval of risks for new products/processes and respective 
alterations.

• Define mechanisms to detect evidence of unauthorised financial intermediation or fraud.

• Establish measures to prevent and combat market abuse, money laundering and fraud.

Given the importance of topics related to Prevention of Money laundering (PBC) and Counter Terrorist Financing (CFT), the 
Compliance function performs the following important tasks:

• Monitoring of internal and external customer lists.

• Analysis of Anti-Money Laundering (AML) forms.

• Analysis and approval of account opening.

• Ensure the adequacy of internal rules and procedures for the prevention of money-laundering and counter- 
terrorist financing (PBC/CFT).

• Follow-up of domestic operations and abroad.

• Monitor the commercial network as to the acceptance of customers, performance of certain operations or 
sale of products and services.

• Serve as a liaison between the Bank and the PBC/FT authorities, for the resolution of any internal or external 
issues related to BC/FT.

• Contribute to knowledge sharing in PBC/CFT matters.

Lastly, with regard to the Audit function, fully-functioning since 2014, it continued to carry out its activity in accor-
dance with the Internal Audit Strategic Plan defined for the triennium 2019 - 2021 and aligned with the BCH´s global 
strategy.

The Internal Audit Function carried out the envisaged Business Plan which was prepared on the basis of risk as-
sessment criteria. The activities carried out included audit actions performed on the commercial network, business 
processes, back-up processes and IT. 

Finally, the Internal Audit function also ensured the follow-up of the implementation of the recommendations and 
other risk exposure matters identified in its reports. Without prejudice to other means of follow-up, an Activity Re-
port is submitted annually to the Board of Directors as well as, periodically, follow-up reports on the recommenda-
tions of the audit actions which have been approved by management.
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Outlook for 2020

Having in mind the global economic environment, prospects for growth of the African economy and in particular the 
Angolan economy, the Bank´s strategy continues to be one of focus on sustained growth, ensuring a flexible struc-
ture which allows a fast and efficient response to the demanding business and regulatory challenges in the financial 
sector.   In that way, in 2020, BCH is committed to:​

• Continuing to offer a structure of differentiated financial products which can continue to meet the needs of 
our customers; ​

• Keeping its focus on the Bank´s sustained growth while preserving the profit margin; ​

• Working towards strengthening its Control functions (Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Audit) by 
continuing the implementation of good practices in this area and improving the efficiency and effectiveness of 
internal processes, so at to comply with regulatory requirements in force; ​

• Monitoring and implementing in a rigorous and effective manner all regulatory changes applicable to the fi-
nancial sector and the Bank;​

• Further developing and executing training plans that reinforce the qualification of our employees and main-
tain the high levels of motivation of our teams; ​

• Taking into account the deterioration of the country’s economic and social situation due to COVID-19, a year 
with more challenges is expected, in which BCH will take containment measures and try to maintain the same 
level of profitability.

Proposed appropriation of profit
The profit after tax in 2019 of AKZ 7,163,989,000 will be appropriated as follows:

• 10% to Legal Reserves;

• The remainder, to increase Retained Earnings.

The Board of Directors
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Financial Statements

Income Statement as at 31 December 2019 and 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheet

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019 and 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheet

Statements of income and other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

Statement of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Balance Sheet

Cash flow statement for the years ended December 2019 and 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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1. Introductory note

The Banco Comercial do Huambo (Commercial Bank of Huambo) was incorporated by a public deed on 17 June 2009, 
hereinafter referred to as “Bank” or “BCH”. The bank started its commercial activity on 16 July 2010.

As it is originally and in its essence a regional bank, with headquarters in the city of Huambo, and banking activity 
centred on supporting small and medium-sized companies while contributing to the socio-economic development 
of the region in which it is based, more recently and over the past few years the Bank has diversified its activity in 
an attempt to offer a wider range of products and services with greater added value to its customers, namely the 
more sophisticated ones and which is also more in line with the positioning of the Bank in the city of Luanda, the 
country´s capital.  

It is in this context that the Bank also supports, for example, its customers, in terms of technical assistance, from 
setting up a company to preparation of project feasibility study. This is an innovative service in the Angolan financial 
system, available at the Bank´s branches in Huambo and Luanda.

Concerning the ownership structure and as mentioned in Note 28, the Bank is owned by Angolan shareholders, 
further details on which are provided in the same note.

2 – Accounting Policies

2.1  Basis of presentation
Under the provisions of Notice n.º 6/2016 of June 22 of the BNA (National Bank of Angola), the Bank´s financial 
statements are prepared  on a going concern basis by using the Bank´s accounting books and records and in compli-
ance with the International Accounting Standards/ International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS / IFRS). These 
financial statements refer to the Bank´s separate activity as at 31 December 2019 and were prepared in order to 
comply with the requirements for the presentation of separate accounts defined by the BNA.

The IAS / IFRS comprise accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), and by the re-
spective predecessor bodies.

The financial statements hereby presented refer to the year ended 31 December 2019. 

The accounting policies presented in this note were applied in a manner consistent with those used in the finan-
cial statements at 31 December 2018, except for the changes arising from the adoption of: IFRS 15 – Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers which replaces IAS 18 - Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts; IFRIC 13 – 
Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 - Transfer 
of Assets from Customers and SIC-13 - Barter Transactions involving Advertising Services and IFRS 16 - Leases 
which replaces IAS 17 - Leases which establishes new requirements regarding the scope, classification/recogni-
tion and measurement of leases. There were no significant impacts on the Bank’s financial statements related to 
the adoption of IFRS 15. 
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 Details of the impacts on the Bank’s financial statements resulting from the adoption of IFRS 16 can be found in 
Note 30. The Bank applied IFRS 16 according to the Modified Retrospective approach, so comparative information 
has not been restated.

The financial statements are stated in thousands of kwanzas, rounded to the nearest thousand and were prepared 
in accordance with the historical cost principle, except for the assets recorded at fair value, namely financial assets 
held for trading, at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IAS/IFRS requires the Bank to make judgments and 
estimates and use assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the stated amounts of 
income, expenses, assets and liabilities. Changes in such assumptions or differences when compared to reality may 
impact the current estimates and judgments. The areas involving a higher level of judgment or complexity or are-
as where assumptions and estimates are significant to the preparation of the financial statements are analysed in 
Note 3.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were approved at the annual meeting of the Board 
of Directors on 30 April 2020.

2.2 Foreign currency transactions
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency are recorded pursuant to the multi-currency system, that is, in the respec-
tive currency of denomination.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Kwanzas (functional currency) at the rate ruling on the date of the 
transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated into Kwanzas (functional currency) at the period 
end exchange rate. Exchange gains and losses are taken to the income statement. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated into Kwanzas according to the following 
method: 

• Recorded at historical cost – at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction.

• Recorded at fair value– at the average exchange rate ruling at the date the fair value is determined with fair 
value changes in profit or loss, except for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
which difference is reported in equity.
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2.3 Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to customers include loans and advances originated by the Bank, which are not intended to be sold 
in the short-term, and which are recognised on the date cash is advanced to the customer. 

Loans and advances to customers are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less 
impairment losses. The associated transaction costs are part of the effective interest rate of these financial instruments.  
Interests recognised by using the effective interest method are recognised in net interest income.

For the calculation of the effective interest rate the future cash flows are estimated considering all the contractual terms 
of the financial instrument. The calculation includes fees and commissions which are an integral part of the effective tax 
rate, such as opening fee, management fee, renewal fee, transaction costs and all discounts directly related to the trans-
action.

Loans and advances to customers are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently meas-
ured at amortised cost, by using the effective interest rate method, and are presented in the balance sheet less impair-
ment losses.

Loans and advances to customers are derecognised from the balance sheet when (i) the Bank’s contractual rights to the 
cash flows have expired (ii) the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership or (iii) although the 
Bank has retained some but not substantially all risks and rewards of ownerships, the control over the assets has been 
transferred.

The classification and measurement of the Bank’s financial assets under IFRS 9 results from the combination between 
the business model chosen for the management of these assets and the result from the tests carried out to assess 
compliance with SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) criterion.

In that sense, the business model defined for the BCH’s credit portfolio is Hold-to-Collect (“HTC”) and accordingly all 
loans and advances to customers will be classified as HTC and measured at amortised cost, except for when there is 
non-compliance with the SPPI criteria. When credit operations do not comply with the SPPI criteria, they must be clas-
sified into Fair Value through Profit or Loss (“FVTPL”).

Impairment

The Bank’s policy is to regularly assess whether there is objective evidence of impairment in its loan portfolio. Iden-
tified impairment losses are recognised in the income statement and are subsequently reversed through profit or 
loss if the amount of the impairment losses decreases in a subsequent period.

After initial recognition, a customer loan or a loan portfolio, defined as a group of loans with similar credit risk  char-

USD
EUR

2018
308.607	 482.227
353.015		 540.817

2019
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acteristics, is impaired when there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events  that 
has(have) an impact on the recoverable amount of the estimated future cash flows of the loan or of the loan port-
folio, that can be reliably estimated. The loan portfolio is subject to impairment tests on a monthly basis under the 
requirements of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments. This standard establishes that a financial asset is impaired when 
one or more events that have a negative impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets occur

Identified impairment losses are recognised in the income statement and are subsequently reversed through profit 
or loss if, in a subsequent year, there is a reduction in the amount of the impairment loss.

IFRS 9 replaces the incurred loss model of IAS 39 with expected credit loss model – ECL, which considers expected 
losses over the life of the financial instruments. Thus in the determination of the ECL macroeconomic factors are 
taken into account, changes in which impact the expected losses.

The Bank calculates impairment of financial instruments, mainly with regard to loans and advances to customers on 
the basis of the expected credit loss model (ECL).  Under the ECL model, assets subject to impairment calculation 
must be classified in one of the following stages, according to changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
asset:

• Stage 1 – Includes assets for which there is not a significant increase of credit risk since initial recognition. For 
these assets 12-month expected credit losses are recognised, as from the reporting date;

• Stage 2 – In case there has been a significant increase in risk since initial recognition, the assets are classified 
in stage 2. In this stage, lifetime ECL are recognised for these assets. 

• Stage 3 – Assets which are impaired must be classified in this stage, with recognition of lifetime ECL. In rela-
tion to stage 2, the difference is the way the effective interest rate is recognized which should be on  net carry-
ing amount (gross carrying amount in stage 2).

Depending on the classification of operation´s stage, credit losses are estimated according to the following criteria:

• 12-month expected credit losses: expected loss that results from a default event occurring within 12 months 
after the calculation date, applied for operations in stage 1; and,

• Lifetime expected credit losses: expected loss that results from the difference between contractual cash flows 
and the cash flows the entity expects to receive until the maturity of the contract. That is, the expected loss is a 
result of all possible default events until maturity, applied to operations in stage 2 and 3.

IFRS 9 - “Financial Instruments” does not define a concept of default. However, the Bank applies the criterion of 
more than 90 days past due.

The impairment calculation of IFRS 9 is complex and requires management decisions, estimates and assumptions, 
particularly in the assessment of the existence of significantly increased credit risk since initial recognition.

Pursuant to IFRS 9 there are two methods for the calculation of impairment losses: (i) individual assessment and (ii) 
collective assessment.
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(i) Individual Assessment

The assessment of an impaired loan on an individual basis is determined through case by case analysis of total 
credit exposure. For each loan considered individually significant, the Bank assesses at balance-sheet date wheth-
er there is objective evidence of impairment. The criteria defined by the Bank as to the identification of individually 
significant customers or economic groups were as follows:

Customers/economic groups for which there is ob-
jective evidence of impairment.

Customers/economic groups for which there is not 
objective evidence of impairment

0.1% of the institution’s own funds

0.5% of the institution’s owns funds

Segment Criterion

The overall amount of exposure of each customer/economic group does not take into account conversion factors 
for off-balance sheet exposures [CCF].

The amount of the loss is calculated as the difference between the present value of estimated cash flows, dis-
counted at the original effective interest rate of each contract and the carrying amount of each loan, and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of the impaired loans is presented in the balance sheet net of 
impairment losses. For loans with a variable interest rate, the used discount rate is the annual effective interest rate, 
applicable for the year in which the impairment was determined.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the following events:

• Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;

• A breach of contract, such as a default or past-due event;

• The lenders for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower´s financial difficulty granting the 
borrower a concession that would not otherwise be considered;

• It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

•The disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties;

•The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects incurred credit losses.

(ii) Collective Assessment

Loans for which no objective evidence of impairment exists are grouped with other loans with similar credit risk 
characteristics in order to be collectively assessed for impairment. This analysis allows the Bank to recognise losses 
which in individual assessment would only have been identified in future periods.
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Impairment losses based on the collective assessment are calculated through homogeneous groups of loans that 
are considered individually insignificant. Impairment losses in collective terms are determined considering the fol-
lowing aspects

• Historical credit loss experience in similar credit risk portfolio;

• Knowledge of the current economic and credit environment and its influence on the level of historical losses;

• Estimated period between the occurrence of the loss and its identification.

The methods and assumptions used to estimate future cash flows are regularly reviewed by the Bank in order to 
monitor the differences between loss estimates and actual losses.

Segmentation of portfolio of loans for collective assessment

Pursuant to IFRS 9, individually insignificant loans are included in homogeneous groups of loans with similar credit 
risk,  by taking into account the Bank´s management model and subject to collective assessment of impairment. In 
that way, it is intended to ensure that for the purposes of assessing these exposures and setting credit risk param-
eters, the same present similar credit risk characteristics. 

Regarding segmentation of exposures for the purposes of calculating credit risk parameters, the Bank decided that 
the same should be carried out on the basis of two vectors, which are, segmentation per type of customer and 
product (homogeneous populations) also risk buckets.  Customers/operations are classified at each time point ac-
cording to these two vectors, which are the basis for subsequent estimation of credit risk parameters by segment.

For the purpose of defining homogeneous populations, within the scope of the estimation of risk parameters, some 
characteristics of credit operations were considered as relevant segmentation factors, such as the type of custom-
er and the type of product.

In order to ensure the existence of a portfolio segmentation consistent with the regulatory requirements and with 
the necessary statistical relevance for the determination of robust credit risk parameters, the following segmenta-
tion was determined:

Individual customers

Overdrafts - Individuals

Type of customer Segment

Consumer credit
Home loans
Personal loans
Employees
Current accounts
Overdrafts-Corporate
Corporate loans
Guarantees given and CDI

Corporate customers
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Collateral valuation process

Collateral valuation is ensured on a regular basis so that the Bank has up-to-date information on the value of these 
instruments and, consequently, its capacity to mitigate credit risks.

In the context of the conditions for loan approval whenever the need to obtain a guarantee from the customer is 
defined, if the identified type of collateral or guarantee implies a certified valuation, a request for collateral valuation 
should be made to the Credit Division so that it can contact and initiate the process with the external valuation 
companies, with which the Bank has an agreement.

Regarding the process of periodic revaluation of collaterals, based on the requirements of Notice 10/2014, namely 
with regard to the set criteria for new valuation of mortgage collaterals, it was stipulated that the Credit Division will 
be responsible for identifying collaterals that should be subject to revaluation and initiate the respective process 
with external appraisers.

Within the scope of the impairment model, the Bank defined a set of guarantees that can back up the credit oper-
ations, meanwhile, contracted.  

Whenever relevant within the process of loan recovery and in order to determine the recoverable amount of the loan 
through execution of existing guarantees or to support a credit restructuring operation, the Credit Division or Legal 
Department requests the revaluation of the guarantees associated with the operations under its management.

Reversal of impairment

The analysis and subsequent determination of the amount of an existing impairment loss in prior years, may only 
result in a reversal if it is related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (ex. improvement of the 
client´s credibility or additional collateral). The amount of the reversal can not exceed the accumulated impairment 
amounts previously recorded.

Written-off loans

The writing-off of loans is performed when there are no real perspective to recover the loans financially, and for 
collateralised loans, when the funds from the execution of the collaterals have already been received through the 
use of impairment losses when they correspond to 100% of the value of loans considered non-recoverable.

Modification of customer credit exposures

Restructuring of a loan is any modification to the initial terms of a customer loan due to financial difficulties of the 
borrower, which results in modification of the rights and obligations of the parties.

The majority of loans undergoing restructuring due to financial difficulties of the borrower is subject to a minimum cure 
period of 12 months. In case of successive modifications, the cure period restarts at the date of the last restructuring. 

If a new financial asset is recognised as a result of contractual modification of a financial asset, previously desig-
nated as restructured, it will keep this designation and the cure period is also restarted after at the date of the last 
restructuring.
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2.4 Financial Instruments
The financial instruments are presented, classified and measured pursuant to the principles established in IAS 32 – 
Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments.

According to IFRS 9 - “Financial Instruments” can be classified into three measurement categories (amortised cost, 
fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income).

The classification of the assets depends on the contractual cash flows and the associated business model for their 
management.

As to the characteristics of the contractual cash flows, the criterion is to assess whether they represent solely pay-
ments of principal and interest (SPPI).

As to the associated business model, the standard identifies two models of relevance to the Bank´s activity

• Business model the objective of which is achieved by holding the asset in order to collect contractual cash 
flows (Hold-to-Collect); and

• Business model the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
asset (Hold-to-Collect and Sell).

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheets at their trading or contractual date, unless it is es-
tablished in the contract or imposed by legal or regulatory regime that rights and obligations inherent to the transacted 
values are transferred at a different date, in which case this latter date becomes the relevant date.

At first, a financial asset or a financial liability is initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs directly arising 
from its acquisition or issuance, except for items designated at fair value trough profit or loss in which case the trans-
action costs are immediately recognised as expense in the income statement.

Financial assets are included for valuation purposes in one of the following categories

• Financial assets at amortised cost;

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income;

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The classification in the above categories is carried out by considering both of the following elements:

• The characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the financial assets; and

• The Bank´s business model for the management of the financial assets.

Financial assets at amortised cost

The portfolio of financial instruments at amortised cost contains financial assets which meet both of the following 
conditions:
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• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the instrument in order to collect con-
tractual cash flows; and  

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Bank´s business model is based on the acquisition of treasury bills and treasury bonds with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows, i.e., principal and interest (and revaluations in the case of indexed instruments).  In 
this way, the Bank set the following limits for holding instruments under this category:

• Sale of 10% of the portfolio value is sold during the period;

• Existence of more than one monthly sale.

Income and expense of financial instruments at amortised cost are recognised according to the following criteria:

• Interest is recognised in profit or loss, by using the effective interest rate of the transaction on the gross car-
rying amount of the transaction (except for impaired assets in which the interest rate is applied on the carrying 
amount net of impairment);

• Other changes in value will be recognised as income or expense when the financial instrument is derecog-
nised from the balance sheet when it is reclassified and in the case of financial assets, when there are impair-
ment losses or recovery gains.

Treasury bonds issued in national currency indexed to the US dollar and those indexed to the Consumer Price Index 
are subject to revaluation of the nominal value of the security according to the variation of the respective indexes. 
Thus, the result of the referred revaluation of the security is reflected in the income statement of the year in which 
it takes place under the item “foreign exchange results”.

When there is objective evidence that an investment at amortised cost is impaired, the potential impairment loss 
corresponds to the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of the es-
timated future cash flows (excluding the effect of future events), discounted at the original effective interest rate, 
calculated at initial recognition, and it must be recognised in the income statement.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the allowance is adjusted and the amount of the rever-
sal is recognised in the income statement

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

The portfolio of financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income contains financial assets 
that meet both of the following conditions:  

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is both collecting contractual cash flows and sell-
ing financial assets; and 
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• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Income and expense of financial Income and expense of financial instruments at fair value through other compre-
hensive income are recognised according to the following criteria:

• Interest, or where applicable dividends are recognised in profit or loss, for the interest on the same basis as 
for amortised cost assets;

• Foreign exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss for monetary financial assets, and in other com-
prehensive income for non-monetary financial assets;

• For debt instruments, credit impairment losses/reversals are recognised under the item “Results in financial 
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” or “impairment of other financial assets” in the 
income statement;

• Other changes in value are recognised in other comprehensive income.

All financial assets not measured according to the criteria previously defined as at amortised cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets mandatorily accounted for at fair value through profit or loss 

The portfolio of financial instruments mandatorily accounted for at fair value through profit or loss contains all in-
struments for which at least one of the following requirements is met:  

• Assets originated or acquired with the purpose of selling in the short term;

• Compliance with the SPPI criteria referred to above is not in place;

• Assets held as an integral part of an asset portfolio, normally securities, for which there is a recent pattern of 
short-term profit taking;

• Derivative instruments that do not comply with the definition of a financial collateral agreement and have not 
been designated as a hedging instrument.

Income and expense of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised according to the 
following criteria:

• Changes in fair value are directly recognised in profit or loss, separating between the part attributable to the 
income from the instrument which is recognized as interest or dividends according to its nature and the rest 
which is recognised as results from financial operations in the corresponding heading;

• Interest on debt instruments is calculated by applying the effective interest method.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank does not hold any financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial Liability  

A financial instrument is classified as financial liability when there is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or an-
other financial asset, regardless of its legal form.

Non-derivative financial liabilities include deposits from banks and from customers, loans and debt securities.

These financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. The associated 
transaction costs are part of the effective interest rate. The interest recognised by effective interest method is taken 
to net interest income.

Gains and losses arising from repurchase of other financial liabilities are recognised in the income statement when 
they occur. 

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, except guarantees and commitments, measured at amortised cost, on the 
basis of the effective interest method.

Identification and measurement of impairment

In addition to the impairment analysis on loans and advances to customers, at each balance sheet date an assess-
ment is made as to the existence of objective evidence of impairment for all other financial assets that are not 
recorded at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired whenever there 
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events occurring after its initial recognition that have 
an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be reliably estimated.

In accordance with IFRS, the Bank regularly assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets shows signs of impairment. 

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired whenever there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occured after the initial recognition of the asset and that event (or events) has 
an impact on the estimated  future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.

For financial assets at amortised cost, impairment losses correspond to the difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows (considering the recovery period) discounted at 
the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and are recognised in the income statement. These assets 
are presented on the balance-sheet net of impairment. If the asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate, determined on the basis of each contract.  Re-
garding financial assets at amortised cost, if in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and such decrease can be objectively related to an event that occurred after the impairment loss was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment is reversed through profit or loss. 

If there is evidence that a financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income is impaired, the potential 
cumulative loss recognised in reserves, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, net of any impairment loss on the financial asset previously recognised in the income statement, is taken 
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to the income statement. If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss up to the acquisition cost if the increase is objectively 
related to an event that occurred after the impairment loss was recognised.

In the portfolio of financial instruments, impairment is calculated by attributing:

• Probability of Default (PD) which derives from the credit rating of the issuer or the counterparty, respectively;

• Loss Given Default(LGD) which results from market parameters.

Offsetting of financial instruments

The Bank undertakes to offset financial assets and financial liabilities, presenting a net amount on the balance sheet 
when, and only when, the Bank has legally enforceable right to offset the amounts on a net basis and intends either 
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are offset only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group of 
similar transactions.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants at the measurement date or, in its absence the most advantageous market to which the 
bank has access to make the transaction at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When one is available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market 
for that instrument.  A market is regarded as active if transactions take place with sufficient frequency and volume 
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Fair value is determined according to evidence of fair value on the market, namely:

• Level 1 – Fair value is determined on the basis of prices, quoted in active markets;

• Level 2 – Fair value is determined on the basis of inputs observable in active markets;

• Level 3 – Fair value is determined on the basis of data, unobservable in active markets.

2.5 Equity instruments
A financial instrument is classified as an equity instrument when there is no contractual obligation to deliver cash or 
another financial asset to another entity, regardless of its legal form, evidencing a residual interest in the assets of 
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Transaction costs directly arising from the issuance of equity instruments are recognised in equity as a deduction 
from the value of issuance.  The amounts paid and received from the purchase and sale of equity instruments are 
recognised in equity, net of transaction costs.
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Income from equity instruments (dividends) are recognised when the shareholder´s right to receive payment is 
established and deducted from equity

2.6 Other fixed assets 
Recognition and measurement

Other fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost includes ex-
penses arising from the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are recognised as a separate asset when it is probable that the future economic benefits asso-
ciated with the asset will flow to the Bank. Costs with maintenance and repair are recognised as cost as they are 
incurred according to the accrual basis of accounting, under “General Administrative Expenses”.

Depreciation

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful life of the item of 
property and equipment, which corresponds to the period that the asset is expected to be available for use, accord-
ing to the following expected useful life periods:

Property for own use
Works on leased property
Vehicles
Office equipment
Machinery and tools
Computers and similar equipment
Fixtures and fittings

Number of years

50
10

3
10

6 a 7
3

10

Depreciation of the remaining assets is recorded in costs for the year.

IAS 36- Impairment of assets requires that its recoverable amount is calculated and an impairment loss should be 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the income statement.

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of an asset´s net selling price and its value in use, and the latter 
is calculated on the basis of the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the ongoing use of 
the asset or from its disposal at the end of its useful life.
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2.7 Intangible assets
Software

Costs incurred in acquiring software from third parties are capitalised, as well as the additional expenses incurred by 
the Bank necessary for its implementation. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life, which is normally 5 years.

Expenditure on internally developed software, which is expected to generate future economic benefits beyond one 
financial year, is recognised and recorded as intangible assets.

All other expenses related to computer services are recognised as costs when incurred.

2.8 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal group (group of assets with associated liabilities, which include at least one 
non-current asset) are classified as held for sale when there is an intention to dispose of the referred assets and 
liabilities and the assets or group of assets are available for immediate sale and the sale is highly probable.

The Bank also classifies as non-current assets held for sale all non-current assets or a group of assets acquired 
exclusively with a view to their subsequent disposal, which are available for immediate sale and the sale is highly 
probable.

In order for an asset (or a group of assets and liabilities) to be classified under this item the following requirements 
must be met:

• The sale is highly probable;

• The asset is available for immediate sale; and,

• It should be expected that the sale will take place up to 12 months after the asset´s classification under this 
heading. The assets in this item are not amortised and are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell.  The fair value of these assets is determined on the basis of expert assessments.  If the 
carrying amount is greater than the fair value less costs to sell, impairment losses are recognised under “Im-
pairment of other assets net of reversals and recoveries”.

Immediately before the initial classification as non-current assets held for sale, the measurement of all non-current 
assets and all assets and liabilities included in a disposal group is carried out in accordance with applicable IFRS.  Af-
ter classification, these assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.

The Bank also classifies in non-current assets held for sale real estate property acquired through foreclosure, which 
is initially measured at the lower of its fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the outstanding loan 
on the date of the judicial or non-judicial foreclosure.

The fair value is based on the market value which in turn is determined on the basis of the expected selling price 
estimated through periodical evaluation carried out by the Bank.
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Subsequently these assets are measured at the lower of their carrying value and the corresponding fair value less 
costs to sell and are not depreciated.  In case of unrealised losses, these are recognised as impairment losses in the 
income statement.

An extension of the period during which the sale is required to be completed does not exclude an asset from being 
classified as held for sale, if the delay is caused by events and circumstances beyond the control of the Bank and 
there is sufficient evidence that the Bank continues committed to its plan to sell the asset.  Furthermore, under the 
current legislation of the National Bank of Angola, BCH after 12 months from recognising the asset as “Non-current 
asset held for sale” asks the BNA for a permission to continue recognition under this item and reports on the efforts 
made towards its sale.  If consequently the BNA does not Grant permission, the BCH will transfer the asset from 
“Non-current assets held for sale” to “Other Assets” at the same carrying amount, continuing the efforts towards 
its sale.

2.9 Leases 
At the inception of the contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A lease is a contract 
or part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a certain period of time, in 
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, 
the Bank assesses whether:

• The contract involves the use of an identified asset - an asset can be identified either explicitly or implicitly 
and must be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of an asset that is not physically 
distinct. Even if an asset is specified, the Bank would not have the right to use an identified asset if the supplier 
has a substantive right to substitute the asset throughout the period of use;

• The Bank has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the identified as-
set, throughout the period of use; and

• The Bank has the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The Bank has that right when it has the most 
relevant decision-making rights to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the peri-
od of use. When decisions about how and for what purpose the asset is used are predetermined, the Bank has 
the right to direct the use of an asset if:

• The bank has the right to operate the identified asset (or to instruct others to operate the asset in a way it 
determines) without the supplier having the right to change those operating instructions, or

• The Bank has designed the asset (or specific aspects of the asset) in a way that predetermines how and for 
what purpose the asset will be used throughout the period of use.

The Bank applied IFRS 16 to contracts entered into or amended on or after 1 January 2019.

At the inception or upon a reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the con-
sideration in the contract to each component of the lease on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. However, for 
the leases of buildings, ATMs and equipment in which it is a lessee, the Bank chose not to separate the non-lease 
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single component.
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2.9.1 As lessee
The Bank recognizes the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the inception date of the lease. The right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the amount equal to the lease liability at its initial recognition, 
adjusted for all lease payments made at or before the inception date (less any lease incentives received), plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring 
the underlying asset or restoring the site on which it is located. 

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the asset’s useful 
life and the lease term. The estimated useful life of the right-of-use assets is determined according to the same 
principles of the fixed assets. Additionally, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced due to impairment losses, 
if any, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date, discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily deter-
mined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate shall be used. As a rule, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate 
as a discount rate.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the 
right to use the underlying asset over the lease term which have not been made on that date

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

• Variable payments which depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
inception date; 

• Amounts which are expected to be paid as residual value guarantees;

• The exercise price of a purchase option, if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and;

• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Bank exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

Lease liabilities are measured on an amortised cost basis using an effective interest method. The lease liability is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate, there is 
a change in the amounts the Bank expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or whenever the Bank 
changes its assessment about exercising or not a purchase option, an option to terminate or extend the lease.  

Whenever the lease liability is remeasured, the Bank recognizes the remeasurement amount of the lease liability 
as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.  However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced 
to zero and there is further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Bank recognises such reduction 
in the income statement

The Bank presents right-of-use assets that do not correspond to the definition of investment property in “Other 
Fixed Assets” and the lease liabilities in “Other Liabilities” in the statement of financial position.
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Short-term leases and leases of low value assets

The standard permits the lessee not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less and leases of low value assets, with payments associated with these leases recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Bank elected to apply the recognition exemption defined in IFRS 16 to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low value assets. In that way, the Bank recognizes 
the expenses associated with these contracts directly in “General administrative expenses” in the Income State-
ment.

2.9.2 As lessor
When the Bank acts as a lessor, at the inception of the lease it determines whether it should be classified as an 
operating lease or a finance lease.

In order to classify each lease, the Bank performs an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substan-
tially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset. If the lease transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset, it is classified as a finance lease; otherwise, 
as an operating lease.  As part of this assessment, the Bank considers some indicators such as whether the lease 
term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Bank is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in a head lease and a sublease separately. The 
sublease is classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather than by reference 
to the underlying asset. If the original lease is a short-term lease to which the Bank applies recognition exemption 
described above, the Bank classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

If a contract contains both lease and non-lease components, the Bank shall apply IFRS 15 to allocate the consider-
ation provided for in the contract. 

The Bank recognizes lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term as part of “General administrative expenses”.

2.10 Corporate income tax

The Bank is subject to the tax regime set forth in the Industrial Tax Code in force in Angola.

The corporate income tax for the year is determined by applying a 30% rate on total pre-tax profit which is adjusted 
according to specific additions and deductions contained in the tax legislation in force. In fiscal terms, the Bank is 
considered a Group A taxpayer. 

With the publication of Law 19/14 which came into force on 1 January 2015, the corporation tax is subject to pro-
visional advance payment by a single instalment made in August and calculated by applying a rate of 2% on net 
operating income for the first six months of the previous fiscal year, excluding income subject to capital income tax, 
regardless of the existence of taxable income in the year.
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Tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities for a period of 10 years, which may result in 
possible corrections to the taxable income for the years 2014 to 2019.  

The Bank is still subject to the payment of Urban Property Tax (UPT) at a 0.5% rate on the value of the properties 
destined for its normal operation, as defined in Law No. 18/11 of April 21.	

The Bank is also subject to indirect taxes, such as customs duties, stamp duty, consumption tax, as well as other 
taxes.

Investment Income Tax (IIT) 

The Presidential Legislative Decree No. 5/11, of 30 December introduced several legislative changes to the Invest-
ment Income Tax Code, following the tax reform currently under way.

Investment Income Tax is levied on income from financial investments of the Bank, namely income from interbank 
investments, liquidity-providing operations and interest on central bank securities.

The general rate is 10% but a reduced rate of 5% (in the case of income from public debt securities with a maturity of 
three years or more) or a rate of 15% can be applied. Pursuant to para 1(a) of article 47, the income subject to IIT will 
be deducted from the taxable corporate income. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with regard to income derived from public debt securities, according to the last un-
derstanding of the Tax Authority addressed to ABANC (letter with reference number 196/DGC/AGT/2016 of 17 
May 2016), only income from securities issued on or after 1 January 2012 is subject to this tax. 

We also notice that according to the position of the Tax Authority, the revaluation of the public debt securities is-
sued in national currency but indexed to foreign currency, and issued since 1 January 2012, should be subject to 
corporate income tax until the National Bank of Angola is in a position to deduct at source the IIT.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are calculated according to the comprehensive balance sheet method, on temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities and their tax base, using the rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and that are expected to apply when the temporary differences 
are reversed.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except for: goodwill, not deductible for 
tax purposes; differences resulting from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities that do not affect neither the 
accounting nor the taxable profit, and differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they are 
not likely to reverse in the future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised (including unused tax losses).

As provided for in IAS 12 – Income taxes, paragraph 74, the Bank can offset deferred  assets and liabilities whenev-
er: (i) it has the legal right to settle current tax assets and current tax liabilities; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and 
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liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxing authority  on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities at the same time, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered.

2.11 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans 

For defined contribution plans, the liabilities related to the benefit attributable to the Bank’s employees are recog-
nised as an expense for the year when due.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset if a refund or reduction 
of future payments is available.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recorded as a cost once the associated service has been provided.  A liability is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of a service rendered in the past by the employee and such liability can be estimated reliably.

2.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when (i) the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive), arising as a result of 
past practices or published policies which imply the acknowledgement of certain responsibilities, (ii) it is probable 
that its settlement will be required in the future, and (iii) a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured, pursuant to the principles defined in IAS 37, at the most likely amount, at a probabili-
ty-weighted expected value, and taking into account the risks and uncertainties inherent to the process.

If the effect of discounting is material, provisions correspond to the net present value of the expected future pay-
ments, discounted at a rate which takes into account the risk associated with the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate, and are re-
versed in profit or loss in proportion to the outflow of resources which are no longer probable.

Provisions are derecognised when they are used to settle the obligations for which were initially set up or in cases 
where the obligations extinguish.

2.13 Recognition of interest income and expense
Interest income and interest expense for all financial instruments (assets and liabilities) measured at amortised cost 
are recognised under the heading “Interest income and similar interest” or “Interest expense and similar charges” 
(net interest income), using the effective interest method. Interest calculated at the effective interest rate on finan-
cial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is also recognised in net interest income as is interest 
on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future payments cash payments or receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument (or when appropriate, a shorter period) to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or liability.
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When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all the contractual 
terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. 
The calculation includes all the commissions paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and all transaction-related premiums and discounts.

Regarding financial assets or groups of similar financial assets for which impairment losses have been recognised, 
the interest recorded in the income statement is determined on the basis of the interest rate that was used in the 
measurement of the impairment loss.

2.14 Recognition of dividends
Dividends (income on equity instruments) are recognised in the income statement when the shareholder´s right to 
receive payment is established. Dividends are presented in net trading income, net income from other financial instru-
ments at fair value through profit or loss or other income, depending on the classification of the underlying instrument.

2.15 Recognition of fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are recognised according to the following criteria:

• When earned over the period during which the services are provided, they are recognised in the income 
statement in the period to which they refer;

• When resulting from a single provision of services, their recognition takes place upon completion of the re-
ferred service.

When fees and commissions are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, income is 
recognised in net interest income.

2.16 Net trading income
Net trading income include gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, namely trading portfolios.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents
In terms of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with a maturity of less than three 
months from the balance sheet date, including deposits with other credit institutions.

Cash and cash equivalents exclude the obligatory deposits with Central Banks.

2.18 Financial guarantees and loan commitments
Financial guarantees are contracts which oblige the Bank to make specific payments in order to reimburse the hold-
er for a loss incurred as a result of a debtor’s failure to comply with a payment. Commitments are firm commitments 
with the aim of providing credit under predetermined conditions.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are 
initially recognised at fair value, which initial fair value is later amortised over the useful life of the guarantee or com-
mitment. Subsequently, the liability is recognised at the higher of the amortised value and the present value of any 
expected payment to settle.
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2.19 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding, excluding the average number of treasury shares.

For diluted earnings per share, the average number of shares outstanding is adjusted to reflect the effect of all po-
tential ordinary shares treated as dilutive. Contingent or potential issues are treated as dilutive when their conver-
sion into shares decreases earnings per share.

If earnings per share change as a result of a share issuance at a premium or a discount or any other event that may 
alter the potential number of ordinary shares or changes in accounting policies, the calculation of earnings per share 
for all the presented periods is adjusted retrospectively.

3 – Key estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the financial statements 

The IAS/IFRS set a series of accounting treatments and require the Board of Directors to make the necessary judg-
ments and estimates as to decide which accounting treatment is most appropriate. The main accounting estimates 
and judgments used by the Bank in applying the accounting policies are presented in this Note, and aim to improve 
the understanding of how their application affects the Bank’s reported results and their disclosure. A broader de-
scription of the main accounting policies used by the Bank is presented in Note 2 to the financial statements.

Considering that in many situations there are alternatives to the accounting treatment adopted by the Board, the 
results reported by the Bank could be different had a different treatment been chosen. The Board of Directors con-
siders that the choices made are appropriate and that the financial statements present fairly and appropriately the 
Bank’s financial position and the results of its operations in all material respects.

3.1 Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 
The Bank carries out a periodic review of its loan portfolio in order to assess the existence of impairment losses, as 
referred to in the accounting policy described in Note 2.

The assessment process applied to the loan portfolio to determine whether an impairment loss should be recog-
nised is subject to various estimates and judgments.  The probability of default, risk ratings, collateral value asso-
ciated with each transaction, recovery rates and estimation of both the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
considered in this assessment.

Alternative methods and the use of different assumptions and estimates could result in different amounts of im-
pairment losses being recognised thus affecting the Bank´s results for the year.

The Bank considers that the impairment determined based on the methodology described in Note 2 makes it possible 
to adequately reflect the risk associated with its customer loan portfolio, taking into account the rules defined by IFRS 9.

3.2 Corporate income tax
Certain interpretations and estimates are required in determining the overall amount of tax on profits. There are 
several transactions and calculations for which the determination of taxes payable is uncertain during the normal 
business cycle.



Annual Report and Accounts 2019 59

Banco Comercial do Huambo

Different interpretations and estimates could result in different amounts of corporate income tax, current and de-
ferred, than those recognised in the financial statements for the year.

The Tax Authorities can review the calculation of the taxable income made by the Bank during a period of 10 years. 
Therefore, it is possible that corrections to the taxable income take place mainly resulting from differences in the 
interpretation of tax legislation but given that it is rather unlikely, the Board of Directors considers that they will not 
have material effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

4 – Net Interest income

The amount of this item is comprised of the following:

The line items “Interest and similar income” and “Interest and similar expense” are measured at amortised cost on 
the basis of the effective interest method.

The amount in “Loans and advances to customers” accounts for interest on loans and advances granted to custo-
mers. 

The line item “Financial assets at amortised cost” refers to interest on public debt securities, namely treasury bonds 
and treasury bill.  Income from public debt securities, obtained from treasury bonds and treasury bills, issued by the 
Angolan government, is subject to taxation of investment income and capital gains (IIT) and is deducted from the 
taxable income amount.

The line item “Deposits from banks and customer accounts” refers to mainly interest paid to customers on the funds 
deposited with the Bank. This line item shows a cost of Akz 345,613,000 in the financial year of 2019 (31 December 
2018: Akz 843,713,000) which is lower than the previous year due to reduction of interest paid on savings accounts 
which reflects the pattern verified in this portfolio.  

The significant increase in the amount of this item is due mainly to interest generated by treasury bills during 2019
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.5 – Net fee and commission income

The amount in this line item is comprised of the following:

Here below as per type of commission:

The significant reduction that occurred in the balance of this item results mainly from the decrease in income from 
services and commissions charged to customers for money transfers, as well as from reduction in commissions 
charged for approving loans as there was a decrease in this activity during the year of 2019.
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6 – Income from foreign currency transactions

The amount in this line item is comprised of the following:

The line item “Foreign currency transactions” translates the results from purchase and sale of foreign currency, 
according to the accounting policy in Note 2.2.

The line item “Currency revaluation” includes net gain(loss) arising from the revaluation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currency in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 2.2.

7 – Other operating income

The amount in this line item is comprised of the following:

The line item of “Direct and indirect tax” includes the amount of Akz 212,841,000 (31 December 2018: Akz 
350,770,000) related to taxation of investment income and capital gains (IIT).
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8 – Staff costs

The total amount in this line item is made up of the following:

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the line item “Other allowances” includes various allowances granted to the em-
ployees such as child benefit, representation allowance, housing benefit and allowance for errors.

Salary costs and other benefits attributed to the members of the management and supervisory bodies for the 
years 2019 and 2018 refer in their total to remunerations and other short-term benefits.

Remunerations of the members of the management and supervisory bodies are as follows:
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The number of Banks’ employees, considering permanent employees and those under fixed-term contracts, pre-
sents the following breakdown by professional category:

9 – Utilities and contracted services

The total amount in this line item is made up of the following:

In 2019, the variation in the balance of the item “Utilities and contracted services” results mainly from increase in the 
balances of the items “Consulting and auditing” and “Security, conservation and repair”.

The item “Consulting, auditing and other specialised technical services” includes audits of the annual accounts, fis-
cal consulting and provision of IT services.

As at 31 December 2019, the line item “Rental and leasing” includes the amount of Akz 6,952,000 (2018: Akz 
28,376,000) related to short-term leases not included in the measurement of the lease liability, as described in 
accounting policy 2.9.1.
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10 – Cash and deposits with central banks

The total amount in this line item is comprised of the following:

The item “Deposits with Central Banks” includes deposits of a mandatory nature at the National Bank of Angola, 
which purpose is to meet legal requirements regarding liquidity requirements. It is important to point out that they 
are non-interest bearing. 

As at 31 December 2019 and 2020, here below is a breakdown of the deposits with the Central Bank of Angola:

The balance in “Deposits with Central Banks” comprises non-interest bearing current accounts in national and fo-
reign currencies, which purpose is to fulfil the requirements of minimum reserves set by the BNA as well as other 
liabilities.

On 4 June 2010, Regulation nº 3/2010 of BNA came into force, and determined that the mandatory reserves must 
be made in two currencies – AKZ for the accounts in AKZ which comprise the reserve base and USD for the accoun-
ts in foreign currency which comprise the reserve base.

In 2016, the BNA issued Instruction nº 2/2016 which establishes that the reserves in national currency must be 
30%, except Local Government deposits which are subject to 50% and Central Government deposits subject to 
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75%.  The coefficient of mandatory reserves in foreign currency is 15% for customer deposit balances and 100% for 
Local & Central Government deposit balances, as well as for Town Halls.

In addition, Instruction No. 04/2016 of May 13 defines that the reserve base, excluding Central Government, Local 
Government and Municipal Administration accounts is 30%, and banks can meet up to 20% with Treasury bonds 
belonging to the banks’ own portfolio, provided that those are issued as of January 2015 and to the amount of the 
financing agreements signed with the Ministry of Finance, according to the weights defined in the referred Instruc-
tion.

11 – Deposits with other banks

The balance of the line item “Deposits with other banks” is comprised in terms of its nature, as follows:

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the line item “Deposits with other banks abroad” includes the account balances 
at the respective banks and those amounts are part of the management of the Bank’s current operations without 
there being any associated remuneration. 

12 – Loans and advances to central banks and other banks

This item, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is analysed as follows:

These loans and advances were constituted as collateral for the issuance of documentary credits at the correspondent 
banks.
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All exposures related to loans and advances to other banks are in Stage 1.  

The distribution of loans and advances to Central Banks and other banks by maturity as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 
is as follows:

13 – Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 this item has the following structure:

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item only includes the interest in the entity EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de 
Serviços, S.A.R.L. (interbank service company), with head office in Luanda, which is valued at acquisition cost since 
the Bank holds less than 10% of the capital.

EMIS was incorporated in Angola with the purpose to manage the electronic means of payment and complemen-
tary services.

The analysis of the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, per levels of valorisation, as 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018, is presented as follows:
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Pursuant to the provisions of IFRS 13, the financial instruments are measured according to the valorisation levels 
described in Note 28. 

14 – Financial assets at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 this item has the following structure:

All exposures related to loans and advances to other banks are in Stage 1.

The fair value of the portfolio of financial assets at amortised cost is presented in Note 28, under the disclosure 
requirements defined in IFRS 13.

The distribution of investments at amortised cost by maturity, is as follows:
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The movements occurred in impairment losses on investments, shown as an adjustment to the asset amount, were 
as follows:

All of the investments at amortised cost are in Stage 1.

15 – Loans and advances to customers

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 this item has the following structure: 
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the composition of the loan portfolio by residual maturity is as follows:

The Bank classifies past-due instalments of principal or interest on the due date as past-due loans.

The movements occurred in impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, shown as an adjustment to 
the asset amount, were as follows:

All credit exposures are in Stage 1.

Distribution of past-due customer loans by type of rate is as follows:
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, total loans and impairment per segment and per type is as follows:

As at 31 December 2019, total loans and impairment per year of lending to individuals is the following:
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As at 31 December 2018, total loan and impairment per year of lending to Individuals is the following:

16 – Non-current assets held for sale

The total amount in this line item is comprised of the following:

Movements in this item for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are hereby presented:

This amount refers to the transfer of property in lieu of payment.
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17 – Other fixed assets

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item is presented as follows:

The amount in right-of-use assets refers to the value underlying the lease contracts for the premises, occupied by 
the branches, ATMs and equipment, recognized as at 1 January 2019 in the scope of transition to IFRS 16.
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Movements in this item for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are hereby presented:
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18 – Intangible assets

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item is presented as follows: 

Movements in the line item “Intangible assets” for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as shown below:
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19 – Taxes

Income tax (current or deferred) is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to transactions 
recognised in other equity items. In this case the corresponding tax is also recognised in equity, without affecting 
the result of the year.

The current tax estimate for the years ended 2019 and 2018 was calculated pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of article 
64, of Law no. 19/14, of October 22, with applicable tax rate of 30%.

Tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities for a period of 10 years, which may result in, 
due to differences in the interpretation of tax legislation, possible corrections to the taxable income for the years 
2014 to 2019. 

However, it is not likely that any correction relating to these years will occur and, if it occurs, no significant impact is 
expected on the financial statements.

The tax losses for a given year, as provided for in para 1 of article 48 of the Industrial Tax Code, can be deducted from 
the taxable profits of the three subsequent years.

The item Current Taxes includes taxes payable or recoverable through tax credits from previous years. 

As at 31 December 2019, the provisional assessments amounted to Akz 61,507,000 (2018: Akz 58,243,000).

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they re-
verse, using rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Thus, for the year ended 2019 and 2018, 
deferred tax was calculated, in general, on the basis of a 30% rate.

The deferred tax assets recognised in the balance sheet at 31 December 2019 and 2018 can be analysed as follows

The Bank assessed the recoverability of its deferred taxes on the balance sheet based on the expectation of future 
taxable profit.

The variation in deferred tax assets results from the adjustment to the estimate of the financial activity tax of 2018, 
which was only made in 2019.
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The movements in the deferred tax items on the balance sheet were recognised as follows:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with regard to income derived from public debt securities, according to the last un-
derstanding of the Tax Authority addressed to ABANC (letter with reference number 196/DGC/AGT/2016 of 17 
May 2016), only income from securities issued on or after 1 January 2012 is subject to this tax. 

We also note that according to the position of the Tax Authority, the revaluation of the public debt securities issued 
in national currency but indexed to foreign currency, and issued since 1 January 2012, should be subject to corporate 
income tax until the National Bank of Angola is in a position to deduct at source the IIT.

In addition, by Presidential Legislative Decree No. 5/11, of December 30 (revised and republished through Presiden-
tial Legislative Decree No. 2/14, of October 20) investment income tax (IIT) was introduced for income derived from 
public debt securities (Treasury Bonds and Treasury Bills) issued by the Angolan State.

Nevertheless, in accordance with the provisions of article 47 of the Industrial Tax Code (Law no. 19/14 of October 
22), in force since 1 January 2015, in determining the taxable amount, income subject to IIT will be deducted up to the 
amount of the net profit. 

Therefore, in determining taxable income for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, such income was de-
ducted from the taxable profit.

Likewise, the expense arising from IIT payment is not fiscally accepted for the determination of the taxable income, 
as provided in  para 1(a) of article 18 of the Industrial Tax Code.

The reconciliation of the corporate income tax rate to the amount recognised in the income statement, can be 
analysed in the following manner:
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, with regard to income derived from public debt securities, according to the last un-
derstanding of the Tax Authority addressed to ABANC (letter with reference number 196/DGC/AGT/2016 of 17 
May 2016), only income from securities issued on or after 1 January 2012 is subject to this tax. 

We also notice that according to the position of the Tax Authority, the revaluation of the public debt securities is-
sued in national currency but indexed to foreign currency, and issued since 1 January 2012, should be subject to 
corporate income tax until the National Bank of Angola is in a position to deduct at source the IIT

20 – Other assets

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item is presented as follows:

As at 31 December 2019, the amount of Akz 30,860,000 refers to the Bank’s annual contribution to the Deposit 
Guarantee Fund which was launched by BNA during the year 2019 and which aims to cover the reimbursement of 
depositors funds.
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21 – Deposits from customers and other borrowings

The balance of “Deposits from customers and other borrowings”, in terms of its nature, comprises the following:

The distribution of Deposits from customers and other borrowings per maturity as at 31 December 2019        and 
2018, is as follows:

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, time deposits in local and foreign currency bear interest at an annual average rate 
of 5.53% and 5.75% (2018: 6% and 3.25%), respectively.
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22 – Provisions

The main provisions are detailed below:

In 2016, the Bank made a provision for contingent liabilities to cover tax contingencies classified as probable. The 
Bank did not change the value of this provision, as there is no evidence to suggest that it is increased, reduced or 
annulled.

23 – Other liabilities

This item is comprised of the following:
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The account “Other creditors” refers to the following balances:

The balance “Letters of credit” concerns deposits that are delivered as collateral on 31 December 2019 and 2018, 
not yet settled on those dates.

As of December 31, 2019, the lease liability relates to the lease contracts for the premises, occupied by the branches, 
ATM and equipment, recognized under IFRS 16. The undiscounted future lease payments related to the contract 
under IFRS 16, by maturity, are as follows:

24 – Share capital, Share premium and treasury shares
Ordinary shares

The Commercial Bank of Huambo was incorporated in 2009 with share capital of AKZ 300 million. In 2011 the Bank 
increased its share capital to AKZ 1 billion and in 2012 there was a paid-up increase of capital to AKZ 1.5 billion, divi-
ded into 1,500,000 shares, issued at par, with a nominal value of AKZ 1,000 each. And, in 2014, the Bank increased 
its share capital to AKZ 2,265,249,000, fully subscribed and paid up.

Despite the capital increase carried out, as at 31 December 2014, the Bank did not yet fulfil the minimum regulatory 
requirement for share capital and equity of 2.5 billion Kwanzas, imposed by BNA through Notice No. 14/2013 of No-
vember 15th.  On 31 March 2016, the bank asked for BNA’s authorization to increase capital through incorporation 
of reserves during 2016 for which BNA granted authorization by imposing as deadline for the operation September 
2016. In July 2016 the BCH recorded in its financial statements the increase of capital by 734,751 thousand Kwanzas.
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the share distribution among the Bank’s shareholders is as follows:

Earnings and dividends per share

In 2018 and 2017, the earnings per share and the dividend attributed in each financial year, with respect to the pre-
vious year’s profit, were as follows:
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25 – Other reserves and retained earnings

The movements in equity items, during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, are hereby described:

The applicable Angolan legislation requires that the Legal Reserve is credited annually with at least 10% of the an-
nual net profit, up to the amount of the share capital.

The net profit from 2019 was applied towards the building up of the legal reserves, in accordance with the commer-
cial law and the remaining amount was transferred to retained earnings.

26 – Off-balance sheet accounts

Off-balance sheet liabilities and respective balances are as detailed in the table below:

The documentary credits are irrevocable commitments made by the Bank on behalf of its customers, to pay/arran-
ge to pay a determined amount to the supplier of goods or services, within a stipulated period, 
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against the presentation of documents referring to the dispatch of the goods or provision of the service. The ir-
revocable condition is that its cancellation or alteration is not possible without the express consent of all parties 
involved. The documentary credits as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are guaranteed by time deposits.

Revocable and irrevocable commitments are contractual arrangements for the provision of credit to customers (for 
example, unused lines of credit), which are generally contracted on fixed terms or with other term requirements and 
usually require the payment of a commission. Substantially all existing credit granting commitments require custo-
mers to maintain certain requirements met when contracting the credit.

Notwithstanding the particular nature of these commitments, the assessment of these transactions is based on 
the same basic principles as any other commercial transaction, namely the solvency of the customer and the bu-
siness underlying it, and the Bank requires that these transactions are duly collateralised when necessary. Since 
most of them are expected to expire without being used, the amounts indicated do not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements.

Financial instruments accounted for as Guarantees and other commitments are subject to the same approval and 
control procedures applied to the loan portfolio, especially in regard to the assessment of the adequacy of the crea-
ted provisions as described in the accounting policy described in Note 2.18, the maximum credit exposure is repre-
sented by nominal value that could be lost on contingent liabilities and other commitments assumed by the Bank in 
the event of default by the respective counterparties, without taking into account potential loan or collateral reco-
very.

The Bank provides custody, asset management, investment management and advisory services involving deci-
sion-making as to the purchase and sale of various types of financial instruments. For certain services provided, 
targets and profitability levels are established for assets under management.

Documentary credits and guarantees provided are recorded in stage 1 and the impairment associated with these 
liabilities is Akz 300,000

27 – Related party transactions 

According to IAS 24, entities related to the Bank are considered to be:

• Holders of qualifying participations- Shareholders who own 10% or more of the  share capital;

• Entities which are directly or indirectly controlled or are members of the same group – subsidiaries, associa-
tes and jointly controlled entities;

• Members of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee and their spouses, descendants or first and 
second-degree relatives in the direct descending or ascending line, considered ultimate beneficiary owners of 
the transactions or the assets.
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The balances of BCH with its related parties are detailed in the table below.

In 2019:

In 2018:

Shareholders, Member of the Board of Directors and Next to Kin

Natalino Lavrador
Sebastião Lavrador
Valdomiro Minoru Dondo
António Mosquito
Carlos Saturnino
Salim Valimamade
Cristiana Lavrador
Agda Dondo
Eduarda Nassandjuka M`bakassy
Paulo Sérgio Lavrador
Djavana Saturnino Oliveira
Fauzia Valimamade
Ana Maria LavradorSociedades

Below is a list of the bank’s related parties:
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Companies, related parties

Amosmid Lda
Auto Zuid
Bacatral, sociedade de transp. LDA
Bobs Comércio geral Lda
Consorcio Mayaca/Sol Mayor
Esplanada Grill Lda
Exacta Engenharia LDA
M´bakassy & Filhos
Parige Lda
Sol Maior Emp. Part. Lda
Taiping Lda
Kulanda Belas Malls Gestao E Part LDA
Unitransfer Casa de Câmbios SA
Nocebo

28 – Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is based on quoted market prices, whenever these are available. If these do not exist, fair value is esti-
mated through internal models based on cash flow discounting techniques. Generation of cash flow from different 
instruments is based on the respective financial characteristics, and the discount rates used incorporate both the 
market interest rate curve and the current levels of risk of the respective issuer.

Fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held by the Bank at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is presented as 
follows:
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The Bank uses the following three-level hierarchy in the valuation of financial instruments (assets or liabilities) whi-
ch reflects the level of judgment, observable inputs and their prioritization in determining the fair value of the ins-
trument, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 13:

• Level 1: Fair value is determined on the basis of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical finan-
cial instruments to those that are being valued. If there is more than one active market for the same financial 
instrument, the relevant price is the one that prevails in the principal market for the instrument or prices in the 
most advantageous market that can be accessed; 

• Level 2: Fair value is determined through valuation techniques based on inputs observable in active marke-
ts, either directly (prices, rates, spreads, etc.) or indirectly (derivatives) and valuation assumptions similar to 
those that an unrelated party would use in measuring the fair value of the same financial instrument. It also 
includes instruments which valuation is obtained through quoted prices disclosed by independent entities but 
whose markets have lower liquidity; and,

• Level 3: Fair value is determined on the basis of data, unobservable in active markets, using techniques and 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the same instruments, including assumptions 
about the inherent risks, the valuation technique used and the inputs used and the involved procedures for 
reviewing the precision of the values thus obtained.

The Bank considers that the market for a given financial instrument is active, at the measurement date, depending 
on the volume of transactions carried out and their liquidity, relative volatility of quoted prices and readiness and 
availability of the information, by observing the following preconditions:

• Existence of frequent daily trading price quotes in the last year;

• The above mentioned price quotes change regularly;

• There are executable quotes from more than one entity.
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An input used in a valuation technique is considered to be observable if the following conditions are met:

• If its value is determined in an active market;

• If there is an OTC market and it is reasonable to assume that active market conditions exist, with the excep-
tion of the trading volume condition; and,

• The value of the input can be obtained by the inverse calculation of the prices of the financial instruments and 
/ or derivatives where the other necessary inputs for the initial valuation are observable in a liquid market or in 
an OTC market that comply with the previous paragraphs.

The main methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities accounted 
for in the balance sheet at amortised cost are hereby analysed:

Cash and balances at Central Banks, Deposits with other banks and Loans and advances to Central Banks and other 
banks

These are extremely short-term assets and therefore their carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of their fair 
value.

Investments at amortised cost

The fair value of these financial instruments is based on quoted market prices, when available. If they do not exist, 
the fair value is estimated based on the discounted expected future cash flows of principal and interest from these 
instruments.

For the purposes of this disclosure, it was assumed that Treasury Bills have short-term residual maturities and that 
Treasury Bonds in foreign currency bear interest rates in line with comparable legal market rates, and therefore their 
carrying amount represents substantially the fair value of these assets.

Loans and advances to customers

The fair value of loans and advances to customers is estimated based on the discounted expected future cash flows 
of principal and interest, assuming that the instalments are paid on the dates fixed in the agreements. 

The bank understands that given the fact that the Bank´s loan portfolio is comprised mainly of loans not exceeding 
one year, current rates did not differ significantly from the rates initially contracted, thus the carrying amount will 
not be substantially different from their fair value. 

For the purposes of this disclosure, it was assumed that loan agreements with variable interest rate present regu-
lar adjustments to the interest rate and no relevant changes are made to the associated spreads, which is why it is 
assumed that the carrying amount substantially represents the fair value of these assets.

Deposits from central banks and other banks 

These are extremely short-term assets and therefore their carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of their fair value.
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Customer deposits and other borrowings

Fair value of these financial instruments is estimated based on the discounted expected future cash flows of prin-
cipal and interest. The discount rate used is the one that reflects the rates charged on deposits with similar cha-
racteristics at the balance sheet date. Considering that, for the vast majority of the customer deposits and other 
borrowings portfolio held by the Bank, the applicable interest rates are renewed for periods of less than one year, 
there are no material differences in their fair value. 

29 – Risk management

The Bank is subject to different types of risks in the course of its operations. Risk management is centralised in re-
lation to the specific risks of each business.

The risk management policy aims to define the profile for each risk identified as material for the Bank, aiming to 
protect the Bank’s solidity, as well as to establish guidelines for the implementation of a risk management system 
that allows the identification, evaluation, monitoring, control and reporting of all material risks inherent in the Bank’s 
activity.

In this context, major importance is attributed to the monitoring and control of the principal financial risks - credit, 
market and liquidity - and non-financial risks- operational - to which the Bank’s activity is exposed.

Principal Risk Categories

Credit – Reflects the likelihood of negative impacts on results or capital due to the inability of a counterparty to meet 
its contractual obligations to the institution, including possible restrictions on the transfer of payments from abroad.

Market – The concept of market risk reflects the likelihood of negative impacts on results or capital due to adverse 
movements in interest and foreign currency exchange rates and/or prices of the different financial instruments that 
comprise it, considering both the correlations between them and the respective volatilities. Thus, the Market Risk 
encompasses interest and foreign currency exchange rate risks and other price-related risks.

Liquidity – This risk reflects the likelihood of negative impacts on results or capital arising from the institution’s ina-
bility to have sufficient liquid resources available to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

Operational – Operational risk means the probability of negative impacts on results or capital arising from failures 
in the analysis, processing or settlement of operations; internal and external fraud; the use of resources under a 
subcontracting regime; inefficient decision-making processes; insufficient or inadequate human resources; or the 
inoperability of the infrastructures.

Risk assessment

Credit risk

The Risk Management Office is responsible to define and monitor the credit lines and exposure limits applied to 
Customers and/or Economic Groups, by taking into account the maximum regulatory exposure limits; the internal 
risk limits defined by the Bank, according to the profile and risk appetite, as well as the risk analysis carried out; and 
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the identification of global exposure limits and specific limits by type of product or operation.

Credit risk analysis models play a key role in the credit decision process. In order to identify if a Customer is eligible 
for a credit line, and if it falls within the overall credit exposure limits defined by the Bank, the Risk Management 
Office issues an opinion on the risk quality of the Customer and evaluates the Bank’s global exposure and the pos-
sibility that the use of the credit line may cause non-compliance with defined internal limits and regulatory limits.

For the purposes of the above, a monitoring and control chart is elaborated on a monthly basis according to Notice 
No. 03/2016.

Credit risk models play a key role in the credit decision process. Thus, the decision-making process for credit allo-
cation is based on a set of policies and parameters that are embodied in internal models.

Bank´s exposure to credit risk is shown in the following table:
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The details of the amortized cost exposures by risk level and by stage of impairment are shown below:

Market risk

The Risk Management Office is responsible for the control of the market risks to which the Bank is exposed, and 
must ensure the functions of identification, quantification, monitoring, evaluation, control, reporting and mitigation 
of these risks.

Foreign exchange risk management is based on the identification of the impact that changes in the exchange rates 
relevant to the Bank may have on the value of the exposures and their respective cash inflows and outflows.

In order to identify the impact that movements in exchange rates may have on these cash flows and in this way 
estimate the possibility of financial losses, the Bank periodically prepares an analysis of possible scenarios and 
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simulations of movements in exchange rates, arising from an internal analysis and expectations that the Bank has 
about their evolution.

With regard to exchange risk information and analysis, regular reporting on net foreign currency exposures is ensu-
red on a monthly basis in accordance with Notice No. 4/2016. 

The control of the interest rate risk is ensured by the Risk Management Office. This type of risk occurs in the Bank’s 
activity whenever it enters into transactions with financial cash flows sensitive to changes in the interest rate. There 
is therefore a real interest rate risk, arising from changes in market interest rates, associated with mismatches in the 
timings of assets and liabilities’ interest rate repricing, decreasing their expected profitability (net interest income) 
or increasing their financial cost.

The Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk is monitored on the basis of the analysis of the level of compliance with the 
limits and maximum tolerable limits set for exposure to this risk. In this risk aspect, assessment is made as to what 
is the impact of shocks applied to interest rates on total exposure.

The quantification of the interest rate risk is based on the calculation of the total exposure to interest rate risk, i.e. 
the total amount of assets and liabilities sensitive to changes in interest rates.

The table below shows sensitivity analysis on foreign exchange risk, where the impacts on the bank´s results are 
calculated at a positive and negative change of 5%, 10% and 20% in the exchange rates:

Thus, any future losses in the worst case scenario (20% change in the exchange rate), would only represent negati-
ve impact on own funds of less than 0,01%.

As to the foreign exchange risk, the following table contains sensitivity analysis of the Bank´s exposure to the fo-
reign exchange rates with reference to 31 December 2019:
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The assets and liabilities of the Bank are presented by type of rate as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 as follows: 
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The following table shows the average interest rates for the major categories of financial assets and liabilities of the 
Bank for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, as well as the respective average balances and income and 
expenses for the year:

Pursuant to article 6 of Notice no. 08/2016 of June 22, the Bank must inform the BNA whenever the banking book´s 
economic value is potentially reduced by more than 20% of regulatory capital or of net interest income as a result of 
a 2% change in the interest rate. During the years 2018 and 2017, the Bank complied with this requirement.



Annual Report and Accounts 2019 95

Banco Comercial do Huambo

The breakdown of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, by currency, is hereby presented:
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Liquidity risk

The Risk Management Office monitors the mismatches arising from the use of short-term liabilities to hedge me-
dium and long-term assets in order to avoid impacts and liquidity shortages and to ensure that the institution’s 
reserves are sufficient to meet daily cash needs, both cyclical and non-cyclical, as well as the long-term needs.

Incorporated in the process of quantification and evaluation of the liquidity risk, the BCH periodically evaluates the 
resources in national currency and foreign currency, aiming to maintain a satisfactory level of available funds to 
meet the financial needs in the short, medium and long both in a normal scenario and in a crisis scenario.

Following Instruction 19/2016, the bank draws up biweekly and monthly charts to control possible liquidity outflows 
and inflows in various time buckets and currencies in order to prevent future shortages and better approach and 
manage capital.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the liquidity gap of the Bank’s balance sheet presented the following structure:
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Operational risk

The operational risk management covers the whole of the bank’s activities, making the various business units res-
ponsible for identifying and managing the risks associated with their activities. The risk management office iden-
tifies and evaluates specific instances of the principal risks that may jeopardise the achievement of the bank’s 
objectives, and performs ongoing monitoring and development of risk mitigation measures.

The quantification of operational risk is determined in accordance with Instructions No. 16/2016 and No. 17/2016, 
corresponding to 15% of the average of the last three years of the annual exposure indicator if positive and calcula-
ted by the basic indicator approach, which considers the sum of several items on the income statement, such as net 
interest income, net investment income, net trading income of securities held for trading, net income from foreign 
currency transactions and net income from provision of financial services, which in turn is constant until the end of 
the period, suffering change only in December.

The amounts in these accounts have to do with the good functioning and commitment of all the areas of the insti-
tution and a periodic monitoring is performed with monthly reporting to the regulatory body.

Capital management and solvency ratio

The Bank’s own funds are calculated in accordance with the following applicable regulations: Notice no. 05/2007 
of 12 September, Instruction no. 03/2011 of 08 June, Notice no. 2/2015 of 26 January and Notice nº 10/2014 of 5 
December.

Financial institutions must maintain a level of own funds compatible with the nature and scale of operations that are 
properly weighted by the risks inherent in the operations, and must meet the minimum required Core Tier 1 ratio of 
10%.  The regulatory capital consists of:

• Tier 1 capital includes (i) Paid-up capital; (ii) Reserve to record the adjusted value of the paid-up capital; (iii) 
retained earnings from previous years; (iv)legal, statutory and other reserves from undistributed profits, or 
created to increase capital, and (v) net profit for the year.

• Tier 2 capital includes: (i) redeemable preference shares; (ii) generic funds and provisions; (iii) reserves from 
capital gains from sale of own-use properties; (iv) subordinated debt and hybrid securities; (v) other authori-
sed value by the BNA.

• Deductions – include: (i) treasury shares subject to repurchase; (ii) redeemable preference shares and with 
fixed and cumulative dividends; (iii) loans granted with capital nature (iv) loans granted with capital nature; 
value of the participations; (v) tax credits resulting from tax losses; (vi) goodwill; (vii) other intangible assets 
net of amortizations; and (viii) other values, by determination of the BNA.
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The BNA´s Notice No. 09/2016 establishes that for the purpose of calculating the Core Tier 1 Ratio the excess veri-
fied in the risk exposure limit per customer should be deducted from the regulatory capital.

30 – Recently issued accounting standards and interpretations

New standards and interpretations applicable to the financial year

The accounting standards and interpretations recently issued that have come into force and which BCH applied in 
the preparation of its financial statements, are as follows:

IFRS 16 – Leases

The standard introduced a single model of accounting for leases on the balance sheet. Accordingly, the Bank as a 
lessee recognized right-of-use assets representing its right to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities repre-
senting its obligation to make lease payments.  The accounting as a lessor is unchanged from the previous accoun-
ting policies. 

The Bank adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, an approach that does not imply an impact 
on equity as,  except for previous or accrued lease payments related to the lease recognized in the statement of 
financial position immediately before the date of initial application, there are no differences between the right to 
use the asset and the lease liability at the time of initial recognition (January 1, 2019). The comparative information 
presented for 2018 has not been restated - i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, in accordance with IAS 17 and 
related interpretations. Details of changes in accounting policies are disclosed bellow.

Definition of a lease

Previously, the Bank determined on the contract inception date whether an agreement is or contains a lease 
under IFRIC 4- Determining Whether an Agreement Contains a Lease. The Bank assesses whether a contract is 
or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease. According to IFRS 16, a lease is a contract or part of a con-
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tract that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a certain period of time, in exchange for 
consideration.

At the inception or upon a reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of its relative stand- alone price.  
However, for the leases in which the Bank is a lessee, it chose not to separate the non-lease components and ac-
count for the lease and non-lease components as a single component.

As lessee

As a lessee, the Bank previously classified leases as operating leases or finance leases, on the basis of an overall as-
sessment as to whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an under-
lying asset. In accordance with IFRS 16, the Bank recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for certain asset 
classes - i.e. these leases are recognized in the entity’s balance sheet.

The Bank elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less and leases of low value assets. The Bank recognizes lease payments associated with these leases as expenses 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Bank presents the right-of-use assets in “Other Fixed Assets”, that is, within the same line item as that within 
which the Bank presents the corresponding underlying assets that it owns and the lease liabilities within “Other Lia-
bilities” in the statement of financial position.

Leases classified as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17

On transition, for leases classified as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17, the lease liabilities were measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate on 1 
January 2019. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the 
amount of any corresponding prior or accrued lease payments, recognized in the statement of financial position 
immediately before the initial application date.

The Bank used the following practical expedients in applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
leases in accordance with IAS 17:

• Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases that have similar characteristics;

• Applying the recognition exemption to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less and leases of low value assets;

• Excluding initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use on the initial application date;

• Using insights in determining the lease term if the lease contract includes options to extend or terminate the 
lease.
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Leases previously classified as finance leases

For leases that have been classified as finance leases in accordance with IAS 17, the carrying amount of the right-
-of-use assets and lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 are determined by the carrying amount of the lease asset and 
lease liability in accordance with IAS 17 immediately before that date.

As lessor

The Bank is not required to make any adjustments in the transition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it is a lessor, except 
for subleases. The Bank accounted for its leases in accordance with IFRS 16 since the date of initial application.

The Bank applied IFRS 15- Revenue from Contracts with Customers to allocate the consideration in the contract to 
each lease and non-lease component.

Impacts on financial statements

On transition to IFRS 16, the Bank recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the amount of 
Akz,560,001,807 with the right-of-use assets being adjusted in the notes to the financial statements.

The Bank discounted the lease liabilities by using its incremental borrowing rate on 1 January 2019. The weighted 
average of the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate is 16.5%..

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

On May 28, 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 was adopted by Regu-
lation of the European Commission No 1905/2016 of 22 September 2016. With mandatory a application for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

This standard supersedes IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, IAS 18 - Revenue, IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programs, 
IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 - Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

IFRS 15 determines a 5-step model of analysis in order to determine when the revenue should be recognised and 
what is the amount. The model specifies that revenue must be recognised when an entity transfers goods or ser-
vices to the customer, measured by the amount that the entity expects to be entitled to receive. Depending on the 
fulfilment of some criteria, revenue is recognised:

• At the exact moment when the control over the goods or services is transferred to the customer; or

• Over time, as performance obligations are satisfied.

There were no material impacts from the application of this standard on the Bank’s financial statements.

IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over income tax treatments

An interpretation was issued on 7 June 2017, on how to handle, in accounting terms, uncertainties about the tax 
treatment of income taxes, especially when tax legislation requires that a payment is made to the authorities in 
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the context of a tax dispute and the entity intends to appeal against the agreement in question which led to such 
payment.

The interpretation has determined that the payment can be considered as a tax asset, if it is related to income taxes, 
in accordance with IAS 12 applying the criteria of probability defined by the standard as to the favourable outcome 
in favour of the entity on the matter concerned. 

In this context, the entity may use the most probable amount method or, if the decision can dictate ranges of values, 
use the expected value method.

IFIRC 23 is applied for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and can be adopted in advance. 

There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
interpretation.

Prepayment features with negative compensation– Amendments to IFRS 9

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive in-
come provided that the contractual cash flows are “solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding” (the SPPI criterion) and that the instrument is held in a business model which permits such classification.

Amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstances 
causing early termination of the contract and regardless of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for 
early termination of the contract.

The Basis for Conclusions, for this amendment clarifies that the early termination may be a consequence of a contrac-
tual clause or an event that is beyond of the control of the contracting parties, such as change of laws or regulations 
leading to early termination.

Modification or exchange of financial liability not resulting in derecognition of the liability.

In the Basis for Conclusions, the IASB also clarifies that the requirements of IFRS 9 for adjusting the amortised cost of 
a financial liability when a modification (or exchange) does not result in its derecognition are consistent with the requi-
rements applied to a modification of a financial asset that does not result in its derecognition.

This means that a gain or loss when a financial liability is modified without this resulting in derecognition, calculated 
by subtracting the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate from the contractual cash 
flows, is immediately recognised in profit or loss.

The IASB made this comment in the Basis for Conclusions regarding this amendment as it believes that the current 
requirements of IFRS 9 provide a good basis for entities to account for modifications or exchanges of financial liabi-
lities and that there is no need for a formal amendment to the IFRS 9 with regard to that matter.

This amendment was endorsed on 22 March 2018 and is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
It is to be applied retrospectively. The amendment comes with specific requirements to be adopted in the transition, 
but only if entities adopt it in 2019 and not in 2018 together with IFRS 9.
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There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
interpretation. 

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective for the Bank

Definition of Material - Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

The purpose of this amendment was to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and to clarify certain 
aspects of the definition. The new definition states that “information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring 
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial state-
ments make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific repor-
ting entity”.

The amendments clarify that materiality depends on the nature and magnitude of the information, or both. An enti-
ty has to assess whether the information, either individually or in combination with other information, is material in 
the context of the financial statements.

Obscuring information

The amendments explain that information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have the same 
effect as omitting or misstating the information.  Material information can be obscured, for example, if information 
regarding a material item, transaction or other event is scattered throughout the financial statements, or disclosed 
using a language that is vague or unclear.  Material information can also be obscured if dissimilar items, transactions 
or other events are inappropriately aggregated or conversely, if similar items are inappropriately disaggregated.

New threshold

The amendments replace the threshold “could influence” with “could reasonably be expected to influence” deci-
sions of users, in the definition of material. In the amended definition, it is thus clarified that the materiality assess-
ment will need to take into account how primary users of the financial statements could reasonably be expected to 
be influenced in making economic decisions.

Primary users of the financial statements

The current definition refers to ‘users’ but does not specify their characteristics, which can be interpreted to imply 
that an entity is required to consider all possible users of the financial statements when deciding what information 
to disclose. Consequently, the IASB decided to refer to primary users in the new definition to respond to concerns 
that the term “users” may be interpreted too widely.

This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The amendment must be 
applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted and it must be disclosed.
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Conceptual framework for financial reporting

The conceptual framework sets out a comprehensive set of concepts for:

• Financial reporting;

• Standard setting;

• Development of consistent accounting principles; and

• Assistance in the understanding and interpretation of the standards.

The revised conceptual framework includes:

• Some new concepts;

• Updated definitions and recognition criteria for the recognition of assets and liabilities; and

• Clarifications on important concepts.

This structure is organized as follows:

• Chapter  1 – The objective of financial reporting

• Chapter 2 – Qualitative characteristics of useful financial information

• Chapter 3 – Financial statements and the reporting entity

• Chapter 4 – The elements of financial statements

• Chapter 5 – Recognition and derecognition

• Chapter 6 – Measurement

• Chapter 7 – Presentation and disclosure

• Chapter 8 – Concepts of capital and capital maintenance

The revised Conceptual Framework for financial reporting is not a standard, and none of its concepts override the 
concepts or requirements in any standard. It is applicable to entities that develop accounting policies based on the 
Conceptual Framework and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Amendments to references to the conceptual framework in IFRS standards

In March 2018, the IASB issued a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting, the Revised Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting (conceptual framework), which aims to update the references to and quotations 
from the previous version of the conceptual framework or its version of 2010, so that they refer to the Revised 
Conceptual Framework.
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The revised conceptual framework has an effective date of adoption 1 January 2020 - with earlier adoption per-
mitted - for companies that use the conceptual framework to develop accounting policies when no IFRS standard 
applies to a specific transaction.

Interest rate benchmark reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7)

On September 26, 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7. The amendments modify some 
specific hedge accounting requirements to relieve the potential effects of the uncertainty caused by the IBOR re-
form. In addition, the amendments require companies to provide additional information to investors about the com-
pany’s hedging relationships, which are directly affected by these uncertainties. 

The amendments provide exceptions so that entities would apply the hedge accounting requirements assuming 
that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged risk or the hedged cash flows of the hedged item, or the cash 
flows of the hedging instrument are based, is not altered as a result of the IBOR reform.  The proposed exceptions 
apply only to hedge accounting requirements and the amendments do not provide relief from other consequences 
arising from the interest rate benchmark reform. 

The amendments are of limited scope. If a hedging relationship no longer meets the requirements for hedge ac-
counting for reasons other than those specified by the amendments, then discontinuation of hedge accounting is 
still required. 

In addition, the amendments clarify that if an entity designates interest rate benchmark-based cash flows as the 
hedged item in a cash flow hedge, the entity will not assume, in order to measure the ineffectiveness of the hedge, 
that the expected replacement of the benchmark interest rate with an alternative benchmark rate will result in zero 
cash flow after replacement. Hedging gain or loss should be measured using interest rate benchmark-based cash 
flows by applying a present value technique and a discount rate that reflects the expectations of market participan-
ts about the uncertainty resulting from the reform. 

The amendments are mandatory for all hedging relationships to which exceptions apply. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Earlier adoption is permit-
ted. The changes are applied retrospectively to the hedging relationships existing at the beginning of the reporting 
period in which the entity first applies the amendments and to the gain or loss recognized in comprehensive income 
at the beginning of the period in which the entity first applies the amendments (that is, even if the reporting period 
is not an annual period). 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of 
entity which issues them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation 
features. A few exceptions will apply. The general objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance 
contracts that is more useful and consistent for issuers. 
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IFRS 17 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, and it is necessary to present 
comparatives in that year. Earlier application is permitted if the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before 
the date it applies IFRS 17. In November 2018, the IASB decided to propose the amendment of the date of entry 
into force of the standard to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 

Since IFRS 17 is a standard applicable only to entities in the insurance sector, it will have no impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Interest previously held in a joint operation

On 22 October 2018, the IASB issued changes to its definition of a business.  These amendments clarify that when 
an entity gets control of a joint operation, it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, 
including remeasuring at fair value previously held interests in the assets and liabilities relating to the joint operation. 
In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its previously held interest in the joint operation.  

This change is applicable to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the 
first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Earlier adoption is permitted and disclosure of this 
fact is necessary.

Annual improvements to 2015-2017 cycle

In the Annual Improvements to the 2015-2017 Cycle, the IASB introduced improvements to four standards which are 
summarised below:

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements - Previously held interest in a joint operation

A party which participates, but does not have joint control in a joint operation can obtain joint control in a joint ope-
ration which activity is a business as defined in IFRS 3. This amendment clarifies that the previously held interest 
must not be remeasured.

This amendment applies to transactions in which the entity obtains joint control and which take place on or after the 
first reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
amendment.

IAS 12 Income tax – Income tax consequences of payments on instruments classified as equity

These amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are directly linked to past transaction or 
event which generated profit distributable to shareholders. Consequently, the entity recognises the tax impacts in 
the income statement, in other comprehensive income or equity in the same way it accounted for the transactions 
and events themselves in the past.

These amendments are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier adoption is per-
mitted. When the entity applies these alterations for the first time, it should apply to the tax consequences of divi-
dends recognised on or after the beginning of the earliest comparative period.
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There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
interpretation.

IAS 23 Borrowing costs – borrowing costs eligible for capitalization

The amendment clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop 
a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its intended use or sale 
are complete.

The amendments are applicable to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the reporting period in 
which the entity adopts these amendments. 

These amendments are applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
interpretation.

Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures – Amendments to IAS 28

The amendments clarify that an entity should apply IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint-venture 
to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint-venture (long term interests).  This clarification is relevant since it implies that the expected loss model of IFRS 
should be applied to such investments.

The IASB also clarified that in applying IFRS 9 an entity does not take into account any losses of that associate or 
joint-venture nor impairment losses on the net investment which are recognised as an adjustment to the net in-
vestment resulting form the application of IAS 28.

To illustrate how entities should apply the requirements of both IAS 28 and IFRS 9 with regard to long-term interests, 
the IASB published illustrative examples when it issued this amendment.

This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The amendment has to be 
applied retrospectively, with some exceptions. Earlier application is permitted and it must be disclosed.

There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
interpretation.

Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)

In February 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19. The amendments clarify the accounting when a plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs.

The amendments now specify that an entity should use the updated assumptions for remeasurement of its net 
defined benefit liability (asset) to determine the current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the re-
porting period after a plan amendment.
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The amendments result in a different allocation of total comprehensive income among service cost, interest and 
other comprehensive income.

The amendments apply to plan amendments, curtailments or settlements occurring on or after the beginning of the 
first annual reporting period that begins on or after 1 January 2019.

There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2019 resulting from this 
interpretation.

31 – Subsequent events

After 31 December 2019, the global financial markets were significantly affected by the consequences of the pan-
demic declared by the World Health Organization (WHO) related to the worldwide spread of the new coronavirus 
(Covid-19). In the specific case of Angola, this situation assumes greater relevance when combined with the cur-
rent evolution of the oil price and its reduction in international markets, facts that further amplify the effects of the 
current crisis. These situations have a significant impact on the execution of the State Budget in force for the year 
2020, which is strongly dependent on the revenues from oil sale, and is expected to be significantly reduced.

The Board of Directors is following the developments in the pandemic, in Angola and the rest of the world, as well as 
the projections of the impact those developments may have on the Bank. Thus, and given that these are estimated 
to be significant for the economy, measures are being taken to defend the interests of the different stakeholders in-
cluding employees, depositors, customers and shareholders. Considering the Bank’s asset structure, the main im-
pacts may arise as a result of an increase in credit risk and an increase in the volatility of financial and non-financial 
assets. Nevertheless, the Bank’s priority in the face of an unexpected epidemic is to try to maintain the continuity 
of its activity and protect the health of its employees and customers. The effects of this situation are uncertain, and 
might affect the Bank’s cash flow position and equity. 

Despite the fact that governments, central banks and multilateral agencies are designing packages with measures 
that aim to stimulate the economies, such as the flexibility of terms for the fulfillment of credit obligations deter-
mined in Instruction No. 04/2020 of the National Bank of Angola, the existing data currently do not allow to safely 
quantify the financial impacts. However, the Bank is taking steps to reduce these impacts on its solvency and liqui-
dity. On this basis, the Board of Directors, after the balance sheet date, initiated actions to review the budget for 
2020 that aim to translate (i) an expectation of lower revenue; and (ii) significant containment of business costs. 

Consequently, the continuity of the Bank’s operations, the realization of its assets and settlement of its liabilities 
at the amounts recorded in its financial statements depend on the continuing financial support provided by its sha-
reholders, on the referred budget review and cost containment, and/or the future success of its operations.
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External Auditor´s Report
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Crowe Angola – Auditors and Consultants,SA
Address: Edifício Caravela | Praia do Bispo
Av. Agostinho Neto | Lote 1 | 6.º Piso
Luanda | Angola

Tel. +244 940 059 963
www.crowe.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(amounts in thousands of Kwanzas)

To the Shareholders of:
Banco Comercial do Huambo, S.A.

Introduction

We have audited the financial statements of Banco Comercial do Huambo, S.A, (“Bank”), which comprise 
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019 (showing a total of AOA 45,665,043 thousand and equity of AOA 
24,760,163 thousand including profit after tax of AOA 7,163,989 thousand; Income Statement by nature of 
expense; Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash flow Statement 
for the year then ended as well as Notes to the Financial Statements which include a summary of the sig-
nificant accounting policies. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the adequate preparation and presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Statements and for the internal control 
that it deems necessary to permit the preparation of those financial statements free of material misstate-
ments due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the Auditor

Our responsibility is to express an independent opinion on the financial statements based on our audit, 
which was conducted in accordance with the Technical Standards of the Association of Accountants and 
Accounting Technicians of Angola (OCPCA). These standards require that we comply with ethical require-
ments as well as to plan and conduct such examination as to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatements.

An audit involves procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The selected procedures depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of risk 
of material misstatements in the financial statements due to fraud or error. By conducting these risk as-
sessments, the auditor considers the internal control relevant for the adequate preparation and presenta-
tion of the financial statements by the Bank in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
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circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the efficiency of the Bank´s internal 
control. An audit also includes assessment of the adequacy of the applied accounting policies and reason-
ableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as assessment of the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our un-
qualified audit opinion.

Unqualified opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in paragraph 1 present, in all material respects, the fi-
nancial position of Banco Comercial do Huambo, SA as at 31 December 2019 and its financial performance 
and cash flows cash for the period then ended, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

Emphasis of Matter

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, a global crisis is expected with significant impacts on the global 
economy. As of the date of this report, we are not aware of any situation that could give rise to adjustments 
to the financial statements under analysis, however, the Bank should create conditions to assess the po-
tential impacts of this situation on its operating activity and future financial statements.

Luanda, 30 April 2020

[signature - illegible]

CROWE ANGOLA
Represented by João Martins de Castro
Accounting technician, registered with OCPCA under no. 20140123.

5.

Each member firm of Crowe Global is a separate and independent legal entity. Crowe Angola – Auditores e Consultores, S.A. and its affiliates are not respon-
sible or liable for any acts or omissions of Crowe Global or any other member of Crowe Global. Crowe Global does not render any professional services and 
does not have an ownership or partnership interest in Crowe Angola – Auditores e Consultores, S.A
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AUDIT COMMITTEE’S REPORT AND OPINION 

Dear shareholders, 

Pursuant to legal and statutory provisions, we hereby present the report on the supervisory activity we developed 
and submit the Audit Committee´s Report and Opinion on the Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 
2019 of Banco Comercial do Huambo, S.A. (hereby referred to as Bank), as well as on the proposal for appropriation 
of profit, which are a responsibility of the Board of Directors. The balance sheet shows a total of AOA 45,665,043 
thousand and equity of  AOA 24,760,163 thousand including profit after tax of AOA 7,163,989 thousand.

1. Throughout the financial year, we had the chance to periodically monitor the Bank’s activity, the ade-
quacy of the accounting records and compliance with applicable legal and statutory standards.  The Bank’s 
management and several departments provided us with the explanations and information we requested, 
necessary for the preparation of our opinion. 

2. Within the scope of our duties, we carried out analysis and appraised the Financial Statements which 
comprise the Balance Sheet, Income Statement,  Cash flow Statement and the respective Notes, all of 
which were prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IASB) and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), according to the provision of Notice 6/2016 of  16 May, issued by the 
National Bank of Angola.

3. We analysed the Management Report which describes with sufficient clarity the Bank’s activity during 
2019.

4. The valuation criteria used for the preparation of the accounts correspond to the correct valuation of the 
assets.

5. We analysed the Independent Auditors’ Report, issued by Crowe Angola – Auditors and Consultants, SA 
which contains an unqualified audit opinion.

6. In the light of the foregoing, and taking into consideration the work done we propose: 

a) The approval of the Management Report and the Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

b) The approval of the proposed appropriation of net profit from 2019, as described in the Management 
Report. 

7. We would also like to express our gratitude to the Board of Directors and the Bank’s departments for 
their collaboration.
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Luanda, 4 May 2020

The AUDIT COMMITTEE

Signed: UHY – A. Paredes e Associados – Angola, S.A. [stamp] – President 
Signed: Mr. Mário Castelo Branco -  Deputy-chairman
Signed: Mr. Francisco Miguel Paulo – Deputy-chairman


